
Adult Commissioning Committee 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Adult Commissioning Committee to be 
held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
DATE: Wednesday, 6 November 2019

TIME: 3.00 pm

VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014,’ the 
press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record this meeting. 

AGENDA

3:00PM - MEETING TO OPEN 

1  Apologies for Absence 

2  Declarations of Interest 

3  Draft Minutes of the Meeting Held on 9 October 2019 (Pages 1 - 6)

4  Patient Story - 5 minutes 

3:10PM - ITEMS FOR ASSURANCE 

5  Finance Report - Steve Dixon - 10 minutes (Pages 7 - 20)

3:20PM - ITEMS FOR INFORMATION 

6  Adult Commissioning (Revised) Report - Karen Proctor/Charlotte 
Ramsden - 10 minutes 

(Pages 21 - 32)

7  Arrow Street Extra Care Proposal - 15 minutes (Pages 33 - 104)

8  CCG Third Sector Fund - Karen Proctor - 5 minutes (Pages 105 - 110)

9  Cancer Work Plan Upate - Harry Golby - 10 minutes (Pages 111 - 124)

Public Document Pack



10  Any Other Business - Chair - 5 minutes 

11  Time, Date and Location of Future Meetings 

3:00pm on Wednesday 8 January 2020 – St James’ House;
3:00pm on Wednesday 12 February 2020 – Civic Centre, Salford Suite;
3:00pm on Wednesday 11 March 2020 – St James’ House.

4:05PM - MEETING TO CLOSE 

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3316
Carol Eddleston E-Mail: carol.eddleston@salford.gov.uk



ADULT COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE Page 1 of 5
09 OCTOBER 2019

MINUTES OF ADULT COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE (ACC)

09 OCTOBER 2019 
15:00hrs

SALFORD ROOM, ST JAMES’ HOUSE, PENDLETON

Present:

Mr Steve Dixon (SD) Chief Finance Officer - CCG
Cllr Jane Hamilton (JaH) Executive Support for Social Care & Mental Health - 

SCC
Cllr Bill Hinds (BH) Lead Member for Finance & Support Services - SCC
Mrs Karen Proctor (KP) Director of Commissioning – CCG
Dr Tom Regan (TR) Clinical Director for Commissioning - CCG
Cllr Gina Reynolds (GR) Lead Member for Adult Services, Health & Wellbeing -

SCC – in the chair
Mrs Francine Thorpe (FT) Director of Quality and Innovation - CCG

In Attendance:

Ms Annette Donegani Senior Service Improvement Manager - CCG
Mr Harry Golby (HG) Assistant Director of Commissioning – CCG
Mr Chris Hesketh (CH) Head of Financial Management – SCC
Ms Jacquie Purser (JP) Head of NHS Funded Nursing Care
Mr Judd Skelton (JS) Assistant Director – Integrated Commissioning – 

CCG/SCC
Ms Claire Vaughan (CV) Head of Medicines Optimisation - CCG
Ms Carol Eddleston Senior Democratic Services Advisor - SCC

One member of the public was also in attendance.

Apologies:

Dr Peter Brambleby Interim Director of Public Health - SCC
Mr David Flinn (DF)  Neighbourhood Lead - CCG
Mr Anthony Hassall Chief Accountable Officer - CCG
Mrs Joanne Hardman Chief Finance Officer – SCC
Cllr Tracy Kelly Lead Member for Housing & Neighbourhoods - SCC
Dr David McKelvey (DM)  Neighbourhood Lead - CCG
Mrs Charlotte Ramsden Strategic Director People - SCC
Dr Jeremy Tankel (JT)  Medical Director – CCG – co-chair

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



ADULT COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE Page 2 of 5
09 OCTOBER 2019

1. Apologies and Declarations of Interest

a) Apologies

The above apologies were noted.

b) Declarations of Interest

With reference to the business to be discussed at this meeting there were no 
declarations of interest.

2. Minutes of the Last Meeting 

a) The minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 2019 were approved as a correct 
record.

3. ITEM FOR DECISION

a) ELECTIVE ORTHOPAEDIC CAPACITY

HG presented a report which provided the background, context and options to 
respond to the decision of Manchester University NHS to serve six months’ notice on 
Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust for the use of the Manchester Elective 
Orthopaedic Centre on the Trafford General Hospital site. This represented a 
significant challenge over the next few months and HG reported that it was proposed 
to ask for the notice period to be extended to 12 months to allow more time to plan 
and prepare for the future delivery model.

It was acknowledged that SRFT’s status as the Principal Receiving Site for Greater 
Manchester Major Trauma Services already impacted on its capacity to manage 
elective patient lists and this was to be highlighted in the extension request to 
Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust. 

The emerging preferred model involved SRFT and/or Oaklands for local surgery, 
usually day case, for upper limb & hands and foot & ankle, and Fairfield for inpatient 
lower limb soft tissue & arthroplasty, some reconstruction and day case list fillers, 
with some other private/NHS providers likely being utilised as interim capacity once 
the preferred option and timelines had been confirmed.

It was confirmed that there would be extensive communications and patient 
engagement once the preferred option had been confirmed. This would include 
patient transport, support & information provided pre- and post-op, patient awareness 
of options, and factors affecting patient experience including waiting times on the day 
of surgery and access for visitors. There would also be a robust review and impact 
assessment undertaken following mobilisation.

Adult Commissioning Committee noted the contents of the report, noted the 
intention to carry out patient engagement once the preferred options had been 
confirmed and to discuss the matter at the Health and Social Care Scrutiny 

Page 2



ADULT COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE Page 3 of 5
09 OCTOBER 2019

Panel on 6 November and noted the intention to carry out system wide 
communications once the preferred options and timescales had been 
confirmed. 

4. ITEMS FOR ASSURANCE

a) FINANCE REPORT 

SD provided a verbal update on the 2019/20 financial performance of the Integrated 
Fund. Based on the latest information, the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund was 
currently forecasting to overspend by £0.7m which was an improvement on the 
£0.8m forecast overspend reported to the September meeting. Adults Social Care 
was currently forecast to overspend by approximately £6m but much of this was 
being met (for this year only) by non-recurrent sources (SRFT, winter pressures 
grant, extra Better Care Funding and extra funding for Learning Disabilities).

It was not yet known whether these additional funds would become recurrent in the 
future and a paper would be presented to the Health and Care Commissioning Board 
in November when a clearer picture of the Council’s 2020/21 Local Government 
Finance Settlement would hopefully be available. In the new year there would need 
to be discussions about the funding gap forecast at that time and how best to 
address it.

Adult Commissioning Committee noted the forecast position for the adults’ 
Integrated Fund for 2019/20.

b) NHS Continuing Healthcare and NHS Funded Nursing Care Annual Report

JP presented an update on the delivery of NHS Salford CCG’s statutory duties in 
relation to the National Framework for NHS Continuing Healthcare (CHC) and NHS 
Funded Nursing Care (FNC). It included information on CHC and FNC activity, costs 
and the oversight of provider quality and outlined progress in respect of Personal 
Health Budgets and updates in respect of CCG Quality Premium measures relating 
to CHC. The CCG was statutorily responsible for determining individuals’ eligibility for 
NHS CHC using the national CNC and FNC Framework.

There had been an increase in referrals to the NHS Funded Care Team which had 
ultimately led to an increase in the number of individuals being identified as eligible 
for NHS CHC. JP was pleased to confirm that she considered the team to be 
appropriately resourced. TR reported that his GP practice interacted with the team on 
a regular basis and found them to be excellent.

It was acknowledged that there would always be a number of out of area placements 
but a ‘bulge’ in placements in Farnworth Care Home in 2018/19 was partly explained 
by a temporary reduction in beds in Salford whilst a care home in Walkden was being 
refurbished. Generally there were enough standard CHC beds in Salford to meet 
demand, although it was acknowledged that there was some pressure on dementia 
beds which, at times, led to delayed dishcarges.

Page 3



ADULT COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE Page 4 of 5
09 OCTOBER 2019

Adult Commissioning Committee noted the update report on NHS Continuing 
Healthcare and NHS Funded Nursing Care in Salford.

5. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION

a) Adult Commissioning Report

KP presented an overview of a number of key or emerging areas of commissioning 
and provision relating to adult health and care.

The report included an update on the Integrated Care transformation programme for 
adults which was funded from GM Health and Social Care Partnership transformation 
monies (£18.3m). The programme was due to end in March 2020 so the report 
included an update on project progress and planning for transition as projects 
reached the end of their testing phase.

The committee welcomed the positive impact of a number of the programmes, 
including the support provided by the Housing Officer post to help people with 
housing needs to leave hospital. This might be due to them being homeless or their 
current property being unsuitable to them to return to following their stay in hospital.

The MSK/Back Pain Pathway project had impacted positively on diagnostics ordered 
and potentially also on A&E attendances but the high volume of referrals was in itself 
leading to lengthy waiting times. It was confirmed that this was being monitored and 
providers were being challenged about how they intended to address the issues 
raised.

HG provided an update on the new specialist adult weight management service, 
provided by MoreLife UK, which had been commissioned following a procurement 
exercise led by Salford CCG on behalf of Salford, Bury, Manchester, Stockport and 
Tameside & Glossop. Commissioners were monitoring particularly closely patients 
who had initially embarked on the programme with the previous provider but 
transitioned recently to MoreLife UK. 

Adult Commissioning Committee noted the overview of key and emerging 
areas of commissioning and provision relating to adult health and care.

b) Planned Care Update

AD presented an update on the performance of the following Planned Care access 
standards: Referral to Treatment (Waiting) Times, Diagnostic Test Waiting Times, 52-
Week Waiters and Waiting Lists. The update also considered the reasons for non-
compliance against NHS constitution standards and informed about recovery plans in 
place to improve performance. 

The planned care programme related to a range of routine NHS services with booked 
appointments or interventions in a range of settings, mainly hospital outpatient or 
inpatient services, but also community settings and GP practices. The programme 
did not include urgent referrals and referrals to mental health and cancer services.

Page 4



ADULT COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE Page 5 of 5
09 OCTOBER 2019

It was noted that all standards were failing to meet national targets but that the 
Salford CCG position reflected both the GM and national situation. Relatively though 
the North West was performing better than the rest of the country and Salford was 
performing better than most of the North West.

The SRFT MRI scanner breakdown had obviously had a significant impact on the 
diagnostic target but a recovery plan was in place and it was hoped that things would 
be back on target by the end of March 2020.

Cardiology was an area of continuing concern in relation to waiting lists & waiting 
times for patients and CCG Execs had recently agreed to explore the possible 
provision of community cardiology services, linking in closely with Advice & 
Guidance.

Adult Commissioning Committee noted the Planned Care update, noted Salford 
CCG’s performance against national standards and noted the issues and 
recovery plans that were in place to improve performance.

6. Any Other Business

There were no items of any other business.

7. Meeting Closed

The meeting closed at 16:26.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                          

ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE (ACC) 

AGENDA ITEM NO: 5

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

6 November 2019 (Date of Meeting)

Report of: Chief Finance Officer

Date of Paper: 29th October 2019

Subject: Finance Report

In case of query 
Please contact:

Steve Dixon, Chief Finance Officer and 
Deputy Chief Accountable Officer
0161 212 4804

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
 Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care

 Enabling Transformation
Purpose of Paper:                                   

The purpose of this paper is to provide the Adults’ Commissioning Committee with:

• An update on the 2019/20 financial performance of the Integrated Fund for Adult 
services (Section 3)

• An update on the additional funding approved for Adult Social Care, including 
benefits realisation, latest forecast spend position and approval from the national team on 
the Better Care Fund (BCF) (Sections 4 and 5)

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



  

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

X

Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

X

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?
Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 

X

Legal Advice Sought
X

Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

X
Detailed financial position reported to 
the Service and Finance Group (SFG) 
on 1st October 2019 and will be 
discussed the next SFG on 5th 
November 2019.  

Due to the timings of SFG 
meetings, a verbal update 
from the November SFG will 
be provided to Adults’ 
Committee.

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 8



  

Adults Commissioning Committee (ACC)
Finance Report – 6th November 2019

1. Executive Summary

This finance report provides the Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) with an in-year 
update on how the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund is performing in this financial 
year (2019/20).  This report is based on month 6 (September 2019) finance information and 
initial view of month 7 information.  At the time of writing this report, month 7 information 
has not been fully validated due to the timing of the committee. Based on the latest 
financial information, the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund is currently forecasting to 
overspend by £1.2m in 2019/20.  This is a worsening of £0.4m from the last finance report 
to September’s ACC, which had a forecast year end overspend of £0.8m. The main area 
for this worsening in financial position relates to Adult Critical Care, where the package of 
care for one individual amounted to £0.5m.

Section 3 highlights the main areas of over and under performance within the adults’ 
Integrated Fund.  Adult Social Care (ASC) is forecasting to overspend by £6.3m, which 
shows a worsening position from last year’s expenditure by £2.6m.  Last year ASC 
overspent by £5.2m however commissioners funded £1.5m of pressures in 2019/20.  There 
is a financial risk share in place in the contract between the commissioners and the 
provider whereby Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust (SRFT) will contribute over £3m 
towards the over performance for 2019/20 and around £2.8m is charged to the Integrated 
Fund. This financial pressure for the Integrated Fund is offset by the £3.1m funding 
released from committed developments, mainly the additional ASC grant (£1.4m) and an 
in-year funding allocation to the CCG of £0.9m.

Section 4 reports the findings of the working group that was established to review the key 
areas of overspend in Adult Social Care (ASC), namely Learning Disabilities and 
Residential Care.  The group have made good progress on residential care with an 
established data set in order to review residential spend in more detail. 

Section 5 focuses on the ‘improved Better Care Fund’ (iBCF) providing an update on the 
measures that have been developed to show how the additional funding will improve 
outcomes for the population being supported. 

Section 6 The impact of the transformation schemes is being evaluated and overseen by 
the Adults’ Advisory Board (AAB).  AAB has commenced development of an evaluation 
schedule for 2019 to evaluate all schemes along with the financial impact of these 
schemes. The service evaluations for the main services funded from transformation monies 
will be reported to the Service and Finance Group in December 2019 and to the Adults’ 
Commissioning Committee in January 2020.  

ACC is asked to note the in-year and forecast position for the adult’s Integrated Fund for 
2019/20.

Page 9



  

2. 2019/20 IN YEAR MONITORING

2.1 This latest finance report provides the Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) with 
in-year update on how the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund is performing in the 
financial year (2019/20).  The appendices contain a lot of detail and are appended to 
give members a more thorough understanding of the scope of the Integrated Fund.  
There are explanatory notes included in the appendices which hopefully explain the 
key messages contained within them.

2.2 This finance report is based on information up to the end of September 2019 and 
updated to include provisional figures for October 2019 although the October figures 
have not yet been fully validated.  A detailed analysis of the position for each of the 
adults’ services within the Integrated Fund is shown in Appendices One to Six.

2.3 The Service and Finance Group (SFG) reviewed the budgets in detail at the 
meetings on the 1st October 2019 and 5th November 2019.  At this stage of the year, 
the year-end forecast is an over spend of £1.2m, as shown in Table 1 below.  

Table 1: 2019/20 Financial Summary

YTD 
Budget

 YTD 
Actual

YTD 
Variance

Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
ACC

Movement 
in Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s Notes

TOTAL FUNDING £195,954 £196,154 £200 £395,221 £395,621 £400 £0 £400

Adult Social Care £46,820 £48,228 £1,408 £93,639 £96,456 £2,817 £2,800 £17 See Appendix 1
Acute Services £42,440 £43,056 £617 £84,879 £86,112 £1,233 £1,146 £88 See Appendix 2
Community Services £14,507 £14,397 -£110 £29,013 £28,695 -£319 -£346 £28 See Appendix 3

TOTAL - ICO £103,766 £105,681 £1,915 £207,532 £211,263 £3,731 £3,599 £132

Acute Services £13,238 £13,612 £374 £26,476 £27,177 £701 £1,080 -£380
Adult Social Care £1,879 £1,877 -£2 £3,758 £3,660 -£98 -£104 £6
Adult Social Care - Capital £1,542 £1,542 £0 £3,085 £3,085 £0 £0 £0
Community Assets/ Voluntary Sector £927 £926 -£1 £1,853 £1,851 -£2 -£2 £0
Community Services £1,230 £1,257 £27 £2,461 £2,559 £98 £13 £85
Continuing Health Care & Funded Nursing Care £3,406 £3,272 -£134 £6,811 £6,848 £36 £146 -£110
Mental Health Services - NHS £17,359 £17,367 £8 £34,717 £34,725 £8 £0 £8
Mental Health Services - Private & Voluntary Sector £3,836 £3,619 -£216 £7,671 £7,397 -£274 -£305 £31
Public Health Services £4,223 £4,223 £0 £8,445 £8,395 -£50 -£40 -£10

TOTAL - Non ICO £47,639 £47,694 £55 £95,279 £95,698 £419 £789 -£370 See Appendix 4

TOTAL - Aligned £44,549 £44,835 £287 £89,098 £89,647 £550 -£469 £1,018 See Appendix 5

TOTAL - Committed Developments £0 £0 £0 £3,313 £183 -£3,130 -£3,130 £0 See Appendix 6

TOTAL EXPENDITIURE £195,954 £198,211 £2,257 £395,221 £396,791 £1,570 £789 £781

Over/(Under) Spend £0 £2,057 £2,057 £0 £1,170 £1,170 £789 £381

£'000's %
£923 79%
£247 21%

£1,170 100%

2019/20 Monitoring

Description
CCG Element of Over/(Under) Spend

Council Element of Over/(Under) Spend
Grand Total

Page 10



  

The main reasons for the under and overspends against each of the sections are:

3.1.1 ICO Adult Social Care (ASC) Services (Appendix 1):  These services are currently 
forecast to over spend by £6.3m in 2019/20.  This year a risk share has been agreed 
between commissioners and Salford Royal (SRFT) in relation to ASC spend only.  
Under the terms of the risk share, SRFT will pick up over £3m of this overspend and 
the financial risk to the Integrated Fund is forecast at £2.8m.  

The budget for ASC for 2019/20 was set at the recurrent budget value for 2018/19 
plus an increase of £1.5m for cost pressures in relation to The Limes, Bourke 
Gardens, Residential and Learning Difficulties Placements.  Last year ASC overspent 
by £5.2m however commissioners funded £1.5m of pressures in 2019/20 therefore 
there is a worsening of position of £2.6m in 2019/20.  However this has been offset 
by the releasing of funds within committed developments in 3.1.6 below. 

3.1.2 ICO Acute Hospital Services (Appendix 2):  Activity information has been received 
from SRFT relating to April to September 2019.  These services are forecast to over 
perform by £1.2m on adult services in 2019/20 which is a worsening in the year end 
forecast of £0.1m compared with the last report to this committee.  

3.1.3 ICO Community Services (Appendix 3):  These services are currently forecast to 
underspend by £0.3m in 2019/20.  This is in line with the last report to this committee 
further details can be found in the appendix.

3.1.4 Non ICO Services (Appendix 4):  This year there are more services within this area 
due to the expansion of the integrated fund for 2019/20.  These services are forecast 
to overspend by £0.4m in 2019/20 which is an improvement in the year end forecast 
of £0.4m compared with the last report to this committee.  The main over 
performance remains to be due to acute medical services of the hospital contracts 
outside the ICO.  However this is offset by the underperformance expected within 
Mental Health placements based on the latest client information at September 2019.

3.1.5 Aligned Services (Appendix 5):  These services are those that cannot be included 
formally in a section 75 agreement (pooled budget) but are included in Salford’s 
integrated Commissioning arrangements.  These relate mainly to surgical hospital 
activity and ambulance services.  These services are forecast to overspend by £0.6m 
in 2019/20 which is a worsening in the year end forecast of £1.0m compared with the 
last report to this committee.  There have been a couple of high cost patients in 
critical care in the last quarter which has increased spend in this section by around 
£1.0m, with one patient’s care costing around £0.6m.

3.1.6 Committed Developments (Appendix 6):  There has been no change to the 
committed developments from the last report to this committee, further details can be 
found in appendix 5.  

Page 11



  

4. ADULT SOCIAL CARE (ASC) FINANCE & PERFORMANCE GROUP

4.1 The group has met a number of times with the last meeting being in October 2019.  
An established residential/nursing dataset has been agreed and this will be update 
on a quarterly basis for analysis by the ICO provider.  Current trend analysis 
suggests that short-term placements have been on the rise over the last 3 years.  A 
detailed report is due to be given in the November meeting of this group and will be 
shared in due course thereafter.

4.2 The group is also in the process of establishing a dataset for Community Equipment 
Spend (CES) the first cut of dataset has been reviewed and work will be undertaken 
to see if more detail on the type of products purchased can be produced.

Findings from the group and recommendations will be reported back to the contract 
meeting and Service and Finance Group (SFG) in due course.

4.3 The group reviewed the rebasing of the extra care modelling to inform the ICO of the 
envelope for the tender process that is due in this area.  Further updates will be 
provide in due course. 

5. BETTER CARE FUND

5.1 The submission of quarterly monitoring reports continues to be a national condition 
for the Better Care Fund (BCF) and the improved Better Care Fund (iBCF).  In 
2018/19 the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government and NHS 
England agreed to the merging of iBCF and BCF reporting; therefore, reporting 
requires completion of one combined template per quarter.

All reports for 2018/19 were submitted in accordance with submission deadlines. The 
locality has submitted our 2019/20 iBCF plan and has received the following 
feedback: “More considered and detailed. With the inclusion of the pooled 
budget you get a real sense of the vision for integration. No obvious 
compliance issues.” The CCG has just submitted the quarter 2 submission, which 
due to the late release of the plan template has been a condensed return.

5.2 Performance information has been received up to August 2019. There continues to 
be issues in receiving timely information for certain performance measures that 
haven’t yet been resolved for 2019/20 reports.  The ICO are looking to implement a 
new reporting model through the use of tableau in the coming months which they 
believe will resolve some of the timing issues currently associated with reporting.  

The finance and performance group is reviewing the current measures to ascertain if 
the measures are giving meaningful information on the performance of ASC with 
proposals for changes to be present at the contract meeting.

Page 12



  

6. TRANSFORMATION

6.1 Transformation Schemes funded from the Salford Transformation Fund test new 
models of care and are all predicted an impact on reducing activity for one or more of 
the four measures within the GM Investment Agreement (GMIA);  A&E attendances, 
non-elective admissions, elective admissions and/or outpatient attendances.  

6.2 The impact of the transformation schemes is being evaluated and overseen by the 
Adults’ Advisory Board (AAB).  The first formal evaluations- on those schemes that 
were due to impact on urgent care hospital admissions- were presented to the AAB 
in September 2019.  These are being refined and will be reported to the Service and 
Finance Group in December 2019 and to the Adult’s Commissioning Committee in 
January 2020

7. Recommendations

7.1 The Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) is asked to:

 Note the in year and forecast position of the adults’ services within the Integrated 
Fund for 2019/20.

Steve Dixon
Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Accountable Officer, Salford CCG
29th October 2019

Page 13



  

Appendix 1 – ICO Adult Social Care 2019/20

Analysis of Adult Social Care By 
Client Group

YTD 
Budget

 YTD Actual
YTD 

Variance
Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
ACC

Movement 
in Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Learning Disabilities £14,901 £15,613 £712 £29,798 £31,164 £1,366 £1,008 £358
Physical Disability £10,648 £12,260 £1,612 £21,296 £24,520 £3,224 £3,200 £24
Mental Health £5,425 £5,949 £525 £10,849 £11,856 £1,007 £657 £350
Older People £6,446 £7,180 £734 £12,890 £14,617 £1,728 £2,461 -£734
Sensory £408 £392 -£16 £815 £773 -£43 -£51 £8
Other £6,155 £6,134 -£21 £12,316 £12,246 -£70 -£551 £481
Care Act £1,517 £1,115 -£402 £3,033 £2,216 -£817 -£724 -£93
Support Services £864 £864 -£0 £1,728 £1,728 -£0 £0 -£0
iBCF £455 £439 -£17 £911 £849 -£62 £0 -£62
SRFT Contribution £1 -£1,718 -£1,719 £3 -£3,513 -£3,517 -£3,200 -£316

TOTAL £46,820 £48,228 £1,408 £93,639 £96,456 £2,817 £2,800 £17

2019/20 Monitoring

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix shows all of the Adult Social Care services that are managed by the ICO 
(Salford Royal) and totals £93.6m for 2019/20.

These services are forecast to overspend by around £6.3m in 2019/20 and highlights the 
over spend is within Older People and Physical Disability (Residential Care).  Of the £6.3m 
pressure, SRFT will pick-up £0.7m directly leaving £5.6m that will be applied against the risk 
share agreement.  Therefore the pool is recognising 50% of the £5.6m financial risk, being a 
£2.8m overspend in 2019/20.

Page 14



Date of Meeting: 10th July 2019
Agenda Item No: 

Page 9 of 14

Appendix 2 – ICO Hospital Based Services (SRFT Acute) 2019/20
Reporting Month 6

Reporting 
Month Plan 

(SLAM)

Adjusted 
Actual 

(Reporting 
Month)

Variance 
(Reporting 

Month)      
over / 

(under) 
performance

Annual Plan 
(SLAM)

Forecast 
Adjusted 

Actual

Forecast 
Variance  

over / 
(under) 

performance

% 
Performance 

to Annual 
Plan

Reporting 
Month Plan 

(SLAM)

Adjusted 
Actual 

(Reporting 
Month)

Variance 
(Reporting 

Month)      
over / 

(under) 
performance

Annual Plan 
(SLAM)

Forecast 
Adjusted 

Actual

Forecast 
Variance  

over / 
(under) 

performance

% 
Performance 

to Annual 
Plan

Reported 
Previously 

to ACC
Movement

% 
Movement

A&E 31,272 30,156 -1,116 62,543 60,312 -2,231 -4% £5,541,401 £5,621,700 £80,299 £11,082,803 £11,079,000 -£3,803 0% -£161,803 £158,000 1%
Unplanned Admissions 8,227 8,547 320 16,455 17,094 639 4% £18,659,338 £19,246,486 £587,148 £37,318,674 £38,256,796 £938,122 3% £985,017 -£46,895 0%
Excess Bed Days 3,089 5,232 2,143 6,178 10,462 4,284 69% £788,910 £801,227 £12,318 £1,577,593 £1,527,645 -£49,948 -3% -£13,228 -£36,719 -2%
Outpatients 42,981 43,825 844 85,814 87,495 1,681 2% £5,713,068 £5,796,710 £83,643 £10,351,190 £10,484,000 £132,810 1% £378,323 -£245,513 -2%
Daycase & Elective 5,732 6,081 349 11,441 12,138 697 6% £3,444,848 £3,582,394 £137,546 £6,875,943 £7,176,000 £300,057 4% £262,057 £38,000 1%
All Other (PbR Excluded, non activity Services) 5,446 6,252 806 10,895 12,504 1,609 15% £8,292,088 £8,007,705 -£284,383 £17,673,103 £17,589,006 -£84,097 0% -£304,788 £220,691 1%
Grand Total 96,748 100,093 3,345 193,326 200,005 6,679 3% £42,439,653 £43,056,223 £616,570 £84,879,306 £86,112,447 £1,233,141 1% £1,145,578 £87,564 0%

Year To Date Month 5 Forecast Year End Variance (Price)

Point of Delivery

Activity Price Movement in Forecast
Year To Date Month 5 Forecast Year End

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix shows the hospital based services that are within scope of the ICO and the Pooled budget, all relating to Salford Royal.  This 
table shows activity and spend by care setting (A&E department, unplanned admissions, planned admissions and outpatients).  

The main over performance is within Unplanned Admissions.  The activity has increased in this area since the last report and we have seen 
that costs are higher than plan but with activity increasing at a higher rate which indicates the complexity/acuity of patients being admitted is 
lower.

P
age 15



Page 10 of 14

Appendix 3 – ICO Community Services (SRFT Community) 2019/20

Description
YTD 

Budget
 YTD Actual

YTD 
Variance

Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
ACC

Movement in 
Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
District Nursing £4,056 £4,056 £0 £8,113 £7,982 -£131 -£131 £0
Intermediate Care £3,512 £3,512 £0 £7,024 £7,024 £0 £0 £0
MSK £1,214 £1,185 -£29 £2,427 £2,402 -£25 -£25 £0
Podiatry £1,067 £1,057 -£10 £2,135 £2,114 -£21 -£13 -£8
Other £408 £406 -£2 £815 £812 -£3 -£3 £0
Anticoagulation (Community) £459 £391 -£69 £919 £781 -£138 -£149 £11
Adult Audiology £412 £415 £3 £825 £830 £5 £5 £1
Palliative Care £357 £357 £0 £714 £714 £0 £0 £0
Cardiac Rehabilitation £325 £329 £4 £651 £658 £7 £5 £3
Community Neuro Rehab £320 £336 £16 £640 £672 £32 £32 -£0
Adult Diabetes £301 £317 £17 £601 £635 £33 £33 -£0
Continence £288 £296 £8 £576 £592 £15 £11 £4
Centre of Contact £235 £235 £0 £470 £470 £0 £0 £0
Physiotherapy Adults £230 £231 £1 £460 £462 £2 £0 £2
Early Supported Discharge - Stroke £181 £181 £0 £362 £362 £0 -£45 £45
Tissue Viability £175 £166 -£9 £350 £332 -£17 -£17 £0
Cardiology £140 £140 £0 £279 £279 £0 £0 £0
Community Dietetics £121 £116 -£5 £242 £233 -£9 -£9 £0
Physiotherapy - Hip & Knee £119 £71 -£48 £238 £142 -£96 -£70 -£26
Dermatology £82 £79 -£3 £164 £158 -£6 -£8 £2
Osteoporosis £76 £76 £0 £152 £152 £0 £0 £0
Specialist Nursing £72 £72 £0 £143 £143 £0 £0 £0
Orthotics £68 £84 £16 £136 £168 £33 £38 -£6
Smoking Cessation £67 £67 £0 £134 £134 £0 £0 £0
Community Geriatrian £63 £63 £0 £126 £126 £0 £0 £0
Pulmonary Rehab £62 £62 £0 £124 £124 £0 £0 £0
Adult Speech & Language Therapy £61 £61 £0 £121 £121 £0 £0 -£0
Respiritory Medicine £37 £37 £0 £73 £73 £0 £0 £0

Total Community Services - ICO £14,507 £14,397 -£110 £29,013 £28,695 -£319 -£346 £28

2019/20 Monitoring

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix shows all of the adult community health services spend within the ICO contract, 
broken down by service.  Community services are forecasting to underspend by £0.3m in 2019/20, 
the main areas of note relate to under spends in Anticoagulation (£0.1m), District Nursing (£0.1m) 
and Physiotherapy Hip & Knee (£0.1m).

• Anticoagulation activity has reduced from last year again and this is a result of patients’ 
medication being switched.  This new medication requires fewer clinic attendances for on-
going patient monitoring.  This is offset though by an increased costs in the prescribing 
budget (which is shown in the Primary Care Commissioning Committee Report)  

Page 16



Page 11 of 14

Appendix 4 – Non-ICO Services 2019/20

Description
YTD 

Budget
 YTD Actual

YTD 
Variance

Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
ACC

Movement 
in Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Drug & Alcohol Contracts £1,855 £1,855 £0 £3,711 £3,711 £0 £0 £0
Sexual Health Contracts £1,247 £1,247 £0 £2,494 £2,444 -£50 -£40 -£10
Health Improvement Service £589 £589 £0 £1,178 £1,178 £0 £0 £0
Healthy Living Centres £519 £519 £0 £1,038 £1,038 £0 £0 £0
Other - Public Health £13 £13 £0 £25 £25 £0 £0 £0

Total Public Health Contracts (Non-ICO) £4,223 £4,223 £0 £8,445 £8,395 -£50 -£40 -£10

Mental Health Service - NHS £17,324 £17,324 £0 £34,649 £34,649 £0 £0 £0
Non Contracted Activity £1,313 £1,456 £143 £2,626 £2,904 £278 £0 £278
Six Degrees £752 £752 £0 £1,504 £1,504 £0 £0 £0
St Ann's £584 £584 £0 £1,168 £1,168 £0 £0 £0
Pendlebury House-Turning Point £433 £433 £0 £866 £866 £0 £0 £0
Community Services - NHS £408 £432 £24 £816 £864 £48 £16 £32
Prestwich Specialist Services £349 £349 £0 £697 £697 £0 £0 £0
Specialist Weight  Management £327 £314 -£13 £653 £641 -£12 -£12 £0
Any Qualifed Provider (AQP) £287 £315 £28 £573 £631 £57 £9 £49
Age UK £271 £271 £0 £542 £542 £0 £0 £0
Community Assets £250 £250 £0 £500 £500 £0 £0 £0
START £226 £226 £0 £451 £451 £0 £0 £0
Carers' £189 £189 £0 £378 £378 £0 £0 £0
Mental Health Services - Specialist Services £158 £206 £48 £315 £413 £98 £0 £98
Citizens Advice Bureau £144 £144 £0 £289 £289 £0 £0 £0
Care Act £134 £132 -£2 £268 £270 £2 -£4 £6
Broomwell Healthwatch £97 £100 £3 £194 £208 £13 £4 £10
Practice Services Ltd £83 £65 -£19 £167 £153 -£14 -£3 -£11
Stroke Association £71 £71 £0 £143 £143 £0 £0 £0
Other £162 £161 -£1 £323 £322 -£2 -£2 -£0

Total Block Contracts (Non-ICO) £23,561 £23,774 £212 £47,123 £47,592 £469 £7 £462

Acute Services - NHS £10,780 £10,598 -£182 £21,561 £21,197 -£364 £199 -£563
Acute Services - Private £1,175 £1,596 £421 £2,351 £3,145 £795 £882 -£87
Continuing Care £2,172 £2,024 -£149 £4,345 £4,367 £22 £189 -£167
Mental Health ISRs £1,911 £1,643 -£268 £3,822 £3,446 -£376 -£305 -£71
DFG Capital Grant £1,542 £1,542 £0 £3,085 £3,085 £0 £0 £0
Funded Nursing Care £1,233 £1,248 £15 £2,467 £2,481 £15 -£42 £57
Community Equipment Services £794 £794 £0 £1,588 £1,488 -£100 -£100 £0
Maryfield Court £188 £188 £0 £376 £376 £0 £0 £0
Mental Health Assessments £42 £46 £4 £83 £87 £4 £0 £4
Patient Transport £16 £19 £3 £33 £38 £5 £0 £5

Total Activity Contracts (Non-ICO) £19,855 £19,698 -£157 £39,710 £39,710 -£0 £822 -£822

Total - Non-ICO £47,639 £47,694 £55 £95,279 £95,698 £419 £789 -£370

2019/20 Monitoring

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix shows all of those commissioned services that are not part of the SRFT ICO 
contract.  There are new contracts within this relating to the expansion of the integrated fund for 
2019/20.  Most of these contracts are on a block with only a small number being activity based.  

Page 17



Page 12 of 14

These services are forecasting to overspend by £0.4m.  This is in relation to all Acute Medical 
Services across all providers for Salford patients that receive their hospital care at other hospitals 
outside of Salford.

The Community Equipment Service (CES) is now forecast to underspend by £100k in year after 
discussions with the service leads. However there still remains a risk that this may not underspend 
due the service leads highlighting that an old grant (Community Capacity Grant) has now come to 
an end and this was funding equipment costs that are currently outside the scope of the integrated 
fund.  A decision needs to be made on whether spend should now come under the scope of the 
Adults’ Integrated Fund.

Page 18



Page 13 of 14

Appendix 5 – Aligned Services 2019/20

Description
YTD 

Budget
 YTD Actual

YTD 
Variance

Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
ACC

Movement 
in Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Acute Services - NHS £33,627 £33,949 £322 £67,254 £67,899 £645 -£197 £842
Acute Services - Private £5,094 £5,023 -£71 £10,188 £10,035 -£153 -£272 £119
Ambulance Services £5,134 £5,134 £0 £10,268 £10,268 £0 £0 £0
NHS 111 Service £380 £381 £1 £760 £753 -£7 £0 -£7
Termination Of Pregnancies £314 £347 £34 £628 £693 £65 £0 £65

Total Activity Contracts (Aligned) £44,549 £44,835 £287 £89,098 £89,647 £550 -£469 £1,018

Total - Non-ICO £44,549 £44,835 £287 £89,098 £89,647 £550 -£469 £1,018

2019/20 Monitoring

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix shows all the commissioned services that are within the Aligned element of the 
adult’s Integrated Fund.  These are services that cannot be legally included in a Section 75 
Agreement (pooled budget) but these are included in Salford’s Integrated Commissioning 
Partnership Agreement.  Predominantly these relate to surgical hospital activity and emergency 
ambulance services. Any over or underspend in these areas are included within the financial risk 
share of the Integrated Fund.

There has been a worsening of £1.0m in the year end forecast.  This is due to increased costs at 
NHS providers for Critical Care patients with particularly high costs for certain individual patients as 
one patient cost around £0.5m for their episode of care.

Page 19



Page 14 of 14

Appendix 6 – Committed Developments 2019/20

Description
YTD 

Budget
 YTD 

Actual
YTD 

Variance
Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
ACC

Movement in 
Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Contingency - ASC £0 £0 £0 £783 £0 -£783 -£783 £0
Contingency - Living Wage Reserve £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
Contingency - General £0 £0 £0 £1,447 £0 -£1,447 -£1,447 £0
Contingency - LD Additional Funding £0 £0 £0 £150 £0 -£150 -£150 £0
Contingency - BCF Additional Funding £0 £0 £0 £750 £0 -£750 -£750 £0
Contingency - GM NR Complex Discharge Service £0 £0 £0 £33 £33 £0 £0 £0
Shared Care Records £0 £0 £0 £150 £150 £0 £0 £0
Unidentified Savings Target £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Total Committed Developments £0 £0 £0 £3,313 £183 -£3,130 -£3,130 £0

2019/20 Monitoring

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix shows funding (budget) that has not yet been transferred into contracts.  This funding 
has not been transferred across to providers yet as these budgets are based on estimated financial 
values and will only transfer into contracts when the actual financial values have been agreed.

 “Contingency ASC” relates to the improved Better Care Fund (iBCF).  All funding relating to iBCF 
has been transferred into the ICO contract with the exception of £0.8m which was held back to 
offset in year financial pressures for Adults’ integrated Fund.

This year the Integrated Fund has a non–recurrent general contingency of £1.4m and this has been 
utilised to offset the over performance of the Adults’ integrated Fund.  This funding was the 
additional ASC grant which was kept aside to offset the overspend on ASC.

Additional funding has been given to the CCG in year in relation to Better Care Fund (BCF) and 
funding for specialist LD placements that have been repatriated from NHS England (NHSE). These 
have been released to offset the ASC pressure.

Page 20



 

1

Adult Commissioning Committee

AGENDA ITEM NO 6 (REVISED)

Item for Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

DATE OF MEETING 6 NOVEMBER 2019

Report of: Karen Proctor/Charlotte Ramsden

Date of Paper: November 6th 2019

Subject: Adult Commissioning Report

In case of query 
Please contact:

Judd Skelton 0161 212 5632
Harry Golby 0161 212 6161

Purpose of Paper:

This paper provides an overview of a number of key or emerging areas of commissioning 
and provision relating to adult health and care to ensure Adult Commissioning Committee 
are kept abreast of developments and progress.

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



 

2

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

This paper provides an overview of a number of 
key or emerging areas of commissioning and 
provision relating to adult health and care to 
ensure Adult Commissioning Committee are 
kept abreast of developments and progress.

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

N/A

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

N/A

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH OR EXTREME 
RISKS FACING THE 
ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT ARE 
THEY AND HOW DOES THIS PAPER 
REDUCE THEM?

N/A

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

N/A

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

N/A

Footnote:

Members of – Adults’ Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible.

Page 22



  

3

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  ie survey, event, consultation)

X

Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  ie survey, event, consultation)

X

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how these 
will be managed) 

X

Legal Advice Sought X
Presented to any other groups or committees, 
including Partnership Groups
(Please specify in comments)

X

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 23



4

Adult Commissioning Report

1. Executive Summary

This report provides an overview of a number of key or emerging areas of commissioning 
and provision relating to adult health and care to ensure Adult Commissioning Committee 
are kept abreast of developments.

Items in this month’s report include:

 Additional IAPT Investment
 Learning Disabilities Big Health Day
 Living Well Salford 
 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Case

Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to note and discuss this overview of a number of 
key or emerging areas of commissioning and provision relating to adult health and care. 

2.1 Additional IAPT Investment 
In June 2018 a business case was approved by the CCG’s Commissioning Committee which 
resulted in increased investment in Salford’s Step 3 Improving Access to Psychological 
Therapies (IAPT) services to meet Mental Health Five Year Forward View (MH5YFV) 
targets.  

The business case focused on investment for increased psychological therapy at IAPT step 
3 (GMMH to support the increasing trajectory to achieve 19% access targets and meet the 
perinatal and Long Term Conditions (LTC) requirements as set out in the MH5YFV. This was 
known as ‘phase 1’ of the business case and was agreed and allocated from summer 2018. 
The total cost of phase 1 was £394,624. This was implemented by GMMH in January 2019. 

Phase 2 of the business case detailed increased investment to support achievement of the 
25% access rate by 2021. This was agreed in principle; however there was a requirement for 
successful phase 1 prior to release of the phase 2 investment (anticipated in 12-18 month 
time from the release of phase 1 – i.e. March 2020). Phase 2 costs totalled £512,872 and 
approval of the release of phase 2 investment was delegated to the Service & Finance 
Group. 

Step 3 IAPT (GMMH) has experienced a significant waiting list backlog in addition to 
significant under performance against the national Referral to Treatment Time (RTT) 6 week 
and 18 week targets. Improvements in waiting time performance were recognised as not 
achievable until the waiting list has been addressed. 

In addition to the phase 1 investment, GMMH identified non-recurrent investment to support 
waiting list initiatives. GMMH also agreed additional investment and the implementation of 

Page 24



5

IESO (a digital solution) to support reduction of the waiting list and achievement of the RTT 
targets. 

From a starting point of 1800 people classed as ‘RTT relevant waiters’ in January 2019, the 
additional investment supported the waiting list to be halved in the first two months of 2019. 
The current waiting list stands at 353 (as at 18.10.19). Furthermore, there has been a 
significant shift in the profile of those people waiting. The initial waiting list was 
predominantly comprised of people waiting over 18+ weeks. The updated waiting list profile 
suggests that circa 80% of the CBT waiting list is under 0-6 weeks.  

September 2019 RTT performance for the GMMH Step 3 service ‘on entry’ is 78.2 % for 6 
weeks (against a target of 75%) and 96.7% for 18 weeks (against a target of 95%).  This ‘on 
entry’ data enables us to predict that this will play out in published (on exit) data by 
November 2019. 

September 2019 Recovery performance for the GMMH Step 3 service is 50%.  The overall 
target for Salford is 50% and it is usually anticipated that Step 3 will be under this target 
(owing to the complexity of presentations) and step 2 (who see 65% of IAPT referrals) will 
exceed this.  Consequently achieving 50% in a step 3 service is excellent performance. 

Phase 1 funding was based on the assumption that the pathway would be operating at 19% 
prevalence and that the 25% target wouldn’t be achieved until 2020/21. Whilst an increase in 
referrals (and subsequently treatment starts) was anticipated in the business case – indeed 
it was required to increase performance against the national access target – it was not 
anticipated to occur as rapidly as currently being experienced. 

Given that the data suggests that the pathway is currently close to the 25% access and that 
GMMH are currently seeing the required number of treatment starts outlined under the 
phase 2 business case, it would indicate that the trajectory towards 25% access has been 
realised much sooner than anticipated when the business case was first presented 
 
This has resulted in a position where GMMH are delivering close to the 25% access rate at 
an earlier point in time, without the required phase 2 investment to support this. The service 
has been sustaining this level of performance by recruiting ‘at risk’ to the additional phase 2 
staffing capacity in addition to non-recurrent capacity to support the waiting list initiative. 

Therefore, in October 2019 Service and Finance Group approved the release of phase 2 
investment to continue to support the recurrent employment of the additional therapists 
required to support this level of prevalence.  

Commissioners continue to receive detailed monthly IAPT performance reports which not 
only enable ongoing monitoring of the national IAPT targets but also waiting list size and 
waiting times between first, second and third appointments.

2)  Learning Disabilities Big Health Day

The 10th Annual Big Health Day for adults with learning disabilities, their families and support 
staff took place on Tuesday 22nd October at Chatsworth School.   Chatsworth school was 
chosen as a fully accessible, community, venue that would had accessible spaces for the 
activities of the day.  Chatsworth school kindly allowed us to use the school during the 

Page 25



6

autumn half term holidays and we opened up the event from being adult specific to being 
open to anyone over the age of 14.

The aim was to empower people with learning disabilities and those who directly support 
them to take more personal responsibility and control over their own health.   This theme 
was chosen because people with learning disabilities have repeatedly told us that they think 
that looking after their health is the responsibility of others, not themselves.

The day was a mixture of information stalls and workshops/activities for people with learning 
disabilities, their families and support staff.   There were 7 different workshops, each one ran 
4 times to maximise people’s opportunity to take part.   
.
The workshops were:

1. Cancer: know the signs – People First Merseyside
2. Exercise sessions – Salford Community Leisure and Empower
3. Healthy Eating – Community Nurse, Amanda Anderton
4. Ask, Listen, Do (making a complaint) – Kim Doolan of Pathways Associates and 

Sean Dempsey
5. My Health Rights and Advocacy – Mind in Salford
6. Epilepsy – Community Nurse, Sharon Leah
7. Being Confident – CLDT Psychology team

There were also information stalls focused around these, and other areas.  The stalls were:

1. Health Improvement Team – lifestyle choices / know your numbers mini health 
checks.

2. Carers including Gaddum and ‘Listening to families’.
3. Salford Healthwatch
4. Meet n’ Match – relationships
5. Power in Our hands – GP communication pack
6. Clare Jewkes – Accessible Information
7. Aspire / CLDT psychology – The GP Resource Pack
8. People First Merseyside – Easy Read information about cancer
9. Jonathan Harley – Physiotherapy
10. Shine – Sexual Health
11. SUGGEST in Salford
12. LeDer – Liz Walton
13. Jane Toure – Occupational Therapy
14. SeeAbility

The event reached at least 65 people with learning disabilities and at least 33 people who 
directly support them and have some responsibilities towards supporting them with their 
health.   This is similar to previous year’s attendance.

Feedback from the event was positive with people commenting that they enjoyed and 
learned from what they took part in.  Linzi Brook will be compiling a report of the responses 
and comments, once all feedback has been returned. 

Page 26



7

2.3  Living Well Salford

Salford is one of 4 national sites that has been selected to work with the Innovation Unit on a 
three year programme to scale up learning from the model of mental health care in Lambeth, 
with a focus on those people who are too complex to manage in primary care but who do not 
meet secondary care criteria.   The Living Well Programme is designed to help us think 
differently about mental health support. It will help Salford to focus on people’s skills, 
aspirations and experiences to build a different way of offering support and is very much built 
on the principles of co–design and co-production with people with lived experience. Work 
began in January 2019.

Over the past few months the Salford Living Well Design Team (which comprises colleagues 
from GMMH, SRFT, VCSE Sector, Commissioners and  people with lived experience) and 
the Living Well Collaborative (a larger group which as well as including Design Team 
members also includes partners such as Housing, substance misuse, police and others)   
have been progressing the prototyping of the new model. 

There are some key aspects to the Salford model namely:

 The Listening Lounge:  Safe spaces to share stories and build relationships
 The Living Well Team:  A multi-disciplinary team that connects peoples to integrated 

support
 My Story My Plan:  Contains the things that are most relevant to the individual.. 

Created and owned by the individuals and facilitated by the Living Well Team
 Network of Support:  Comprising organisations and services that provide social, 

practical, learning and clinical support that people can access depending on their 
needs and goals 

The emerging model is presented below. 

Page 27



8

To make sure that things are ready for the prototyping phase, the Design Team has been 
exploring some key issues, such as: 

The Living Well Team – This will be a core of multi-disciplinary team members, including 
mental health practitioners, peer supporters, voluntary sector colleagues, social workers and 
occupational therapists. They will be supported by a team manager and recruitment is 
underway for this role with GMMH. The Team Manager post is being funded via Lottery 
monies allocated to Salford as part of the programme.  

Governance – Deciding how the partners will work together, including the approach to 
clinical oversight, risk management and staff support. An alliance approach is being explored 
– this will mean that whilst there may be one lead organisation for policies and procedures, 
the way that the service operates is more of a partnership approach. 

IT Systems and Information Governance – Making sure that the information people share 
with the Living Well service is done so legally and with consent. The IT that we use will need 
to work together with other systems used in Salford. 

Page 28



9

Location - Whilst the MDT team will mostly be working in the community, they will need 
space to do office work and have team discussions. The Design Team is exploring local 
places and spaces. 

The Person’s Journey – the Collaborative has been working on developing the journey 
through the living well model. This will also continue to be developed through the use of case 
examples and from the stories of people with lived experience. The Design team is working 
to plan how to put the steps of the journey into place. 

Training, Learning and Development – As the Living Well  team will start small and then 
grow the numbers of people they are supporting, there should be lots of time for learning and 
growing as a service. Supervision, peer support and learning and shadowing opportunities 
are being thought through to ensure that staff and volunteers are well supported in their 
roles. 

Developing an Evaluation Framework – Cordisbright and Innovation Unit have been 
supporting conversations to understand what we will evaluate and how we will do this. We 
will need to explore ways of measuring the difference that this service will make to local 
people and the wider system. 

VCSE Mental Health Grants Salford’s share of the Greater Manchester Mental Health 
Transformation money is used to support a grants process, administered by Salford CVS. 
This year the following awards were aligned to the Living Well model and will be key 
components of the new Living Well MDT: 

 Peer Support (£50k per year for two years) to MIND In Salford to work with the 
Salford Mental Health Forum to develop them as an organisation and to offer a peer 
support approach, supporting volunteers to work within the Living Well MDT. 

 Coaching / Recovery Workers (£50k per year for two years) to Start In Salford to 
provide VCSE staff that could work alongside the person accessing the service to 
support their strengths, offer skill building opportunities and connect to the wider 
VCSE sector. 

Prototyping will begin in Broughton in November/ December with a small number of people 
ahead of roll out across Broughton in April 2020 for 12 months. 

2.4 Specialist Palliative Care Service Expansion

Death and dying are inevitable.  However the quality and accessibility of care to meet the 
needs of people, and their families and carers, who are living with death, dying and 
bereavement, can be improved.  There are national and local ambitions to ensure 24/7 
palliative and end of life care services are available – the distress of uncontrolled pain and 
symptoms cannot wait for “opening hours”.

In addition to hospice care, Salford commissions specialist palliative care teams in the 
hospital and community.  These multidisciplinary teams provide face-to-face care and, also 
lead programmes of education, training and development across Salford to improve 
services.  The teams have worked across 7 days since 2009 however demand has grown 
over that period.  In Salford only one quarter of the people who could have an Advanced 

Page 29



10

Care Plan actually have such a plan and the proportion of people from Salford who achieve 
death in their usual place of residence is below national and Greater Manchester averages.

Adults Commissioning Committee has previously been advised that Salford was awarded 21 
months funding by Macmillan to transform specialist palliative care services in the hospital 
and community, establishing weekend and bank holiday provision.  Prior to the MacMillan 
funding there were no face to face senior reviews available at a weekend or bank holiday.  

The Macmillan funding runs out in March 2020.  A business case has been approved by the 
CCG to substantively commission the service to ensure patients can continue to access 
specialist palliative care and senior face to face review 365 days a year. This requires an  
additional investment of £570k per annum (current spend on specialist palliative care teams 
is £947k per annum.)  The CCG had anticipated that a business case may be required and 
had set aside funding.  This funding was not within the Integrated Fund therefore the 
business case was submitted to the CCG rather than into Integrated Commissioning 
Arrangements.  

The business case demonstrated that the new model of care pioneered through the 
McMillan funding has led to:

 Availability of senior (advanced clinical nurse specialist and consultant) face to face 
review and advice across seven days to enhance patient and carer experience and 
reduce inequality,

 Reduction in avoidable and inappropriate hospital admissions with facilitation of 
timely discharge, 

 Improved capacity to meet increasing number of referrals, ensure a responsive 
service and  meet the most urgent patient and carer needs,

 Promotion of advance care planning and support for patients to achieve their 
preferred place of death, and 

 Additional quality improvement initiatives across primary and secondary care 
settings. 

The CCG Executive Team supported the business case subject to the commissioners and 
providers agreeing a satisfactory set of KPIs across the services prior to April 2021.  The 
hospital and community teams work together with weekly combined meetings and senior 
staff able to support care in both the hospital and community. Co-locating the teams in the 
hospital was trialled but it was deemed preferable for the community team to stay onsite at 
the hospice.  The CCG has set a clear expectation that the teams need to demonstrate an 
equitable service across the hospital and community, such that individuals with the same 
needs have the same response whatever the setting, and to keep the hospital / community 
split under review.

2.5 SRFT Elective Orthopaedic Capacity

At its last meeting Adult Commissioning Committee considered a paper concerning SRFT’s 
elective orthopaedic capacity following a decision by Manchester Foundation NHS Trust to 
serve notice on the Manchester Elective Orthopaedic Centre.

The timescales were particularly challenging however a revised date has now been agreed, 
the new date for the change is the end of June 2020.

Page 30



11

3. Local Government Ombudsman Case 

In July 2019, the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) produced a 
draft report finding a number of injustices in relation to a person with mental illness, because 
of the same issues of non-compliance with the Care Act duties. 

Salford City Council has had a long-standing Section 75 partnership agreement with Greater 
Manchester Mental Health Trust (formerly GMW) to deliver the delegated statutory duties of 
the local authority and manage the seconded social work staff. Since 2016, this partnership 
agreement has been between Salford ICO and GMMH and the mental health social work 
staff are now directly employed by SRFT and seconded to the management of GMMH.

In October the LGSCO published a statement on the LGO website – see link below:  
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2019/oct/salford-woman-left-without-
proper-support-because-council-failed-to-reassess-her

The actions below have been taken in response to both the report from the professional lead 
and the LGSCO:

 A s75 Delivery Board, chaired by the Director of Social Care in the ICO, has been 
established to review the s75 agreement and monitor the progress of the 
improvement action plan and LGSCO recommendations.

 A comprehensive improvement action plan is being progressed alongside an LGSCO 
action plan and the compliance issues with assessment, review and care planning 
have been prioritised.

 An audit of all 547 people who have care packages in mental health services is being 
undertaken to establish if they have had a statutory review within the last 12 months.  
All those out of date will be prioritised to have a re-assessment of need under the 
Care Act.

 Following the audit, all 547 cases will have a Care Act compliant re-assessment of 
their social care needs, over an agreed timescale.

 Care Act compliant documentation has now been agreed within GMMH
 The Professional Lead for Social Care has arranged a training package for all 

relevant staff on the Care Act and the new documentation, which will be delivered 
throughout October.

 All staff in GMMH will have e learning autism awareness training and selected staff 
across CMHTs will have face to face autism assessor training before the end of 
October. This training is also being rolled out to ASC staff in the ICO as well, as it 
highlighted a potential gap for staff across both services.

 The other actions across the comprehensive action plan, will be delivered through 
task and finish groups which are currently being established and will report into the 
s75 Delivery Board.

The management board of Salford Directors have been fully briefed on the compliance 
concerns and has been reported at the SCO Quality and Person Experience Committee. It 
has been added to the corporate risk register and escalated to the NCA Exec Board.

Page 31

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2019/oct/salford-woman-left-without-proper-support-because-council-failed-to-reassess-her
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2019/oct/salford-woman-left-without-proper-support-because-council-failed-to-reassess-her


12

4. Recommendations

Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to note and discuss this overview of a number of 
key or emerging areas of commissioning and provision relating to adult health and care. 

Judd Skelton (Assistant Director Integrated Commissioning) & Harry Golby (Assistant 
Director of Commissioning)  

Page 32



 

                                                          

Adults Commissioning Committee
PART I 

AGENDA ITEM NO: 7

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

22 October 2019

Report of: Adult Social Care Commissioning 
Strategy Group

Date of Paper: 06 November 2019

Subject: Arrow Street Extra Care Scheme 
Proposal

In case of query 
Please contact:

Paul Walsh

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
 Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care
Enabling Transformation

Purpose of Paper:                                   

To provide an update on the proposed Extra Care Scheme development at Arrow 
Street in Lower Broughton.

To ask that Adult Commissioning Committee provide support to Salix Homes to 
make a formal planning application for the proposal.

Further explanatory information required

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



 

                                                          

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

Improved choice of service provision
Improved outcomes
Cost effective service

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

None at this stage
Further planning approval for the building and 
service will be required

WHAT EQUALITY RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

None a full CIA will be prepared for the scheme 
should it more into a delivery phase

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT 
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES THIS 
PAPER REDUCE THEM?

The expansion of Extra Care has been agreed 
as a strategic priority for Commissioners

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

None

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

None at this stage. Should the proposal moving 
into delivery phase the project will need to be 
sufficiently resourced across Commissioners 
and SCO

Footnote:

Members of Adults Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible.

Page 34



  

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

 Will take place as part of the Planning 
Application process and then as part 
of the service development and 
implementation

Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?



Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 

 A Community Impact Assessment will 
take place during the next phase of 
the project

Legal Advice Sought  Legal advice will be taken during the 
next phase of the project

Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? (Please specify in comments)


SCC DMG – 30/09/19
LM Briefing – 16/10/19
Adults Advisory Board – 22/10/19

Supportive of the proposal 
Supportive of the proposal
Supportive of the proposal

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 35



Arrow Street Extra Care Scheme Proposal

1. Executive Summary

Following the Extra Care Position Statement (Appendix 1) that was brought to Lead 
Member in April 2018 and the update paper (Appendix 2) taken to Integrated Care 
Advisory Board (ICAB) in April 2019 this report provides an update on the 
development of the proposed Arrow Street Extra Care Scheme in Lower Broughton.

The Arrow Street site in Lower Broughton was identified as one of the potential 
development sites in the ICAB paper (April 2019)

Commissioners and Salix Homes have been progressing the development 
opportunity.

Salix Homes has present outline plans (Appendix 3) to commissioners for a 68 
apartment Extra Care Scheme with an additional 6 bungalows on the opposite site.

Salix Homes has confirmed that they are in a position to submit a planning 
application in November 2019.

2. Detail

2.01 The strategic Extra Care Position Statement 2018 (Appendix 2) set out the 
Council’s and CCG’s strategic intention to grow the Extra Care market in Salford. The 
paper identified a growth level of between 700-1000 units up to 2035 and a current 
shortfall of about 100 units.

2.02 Through the Strategic Housing Partnership Group discussions have taken 
place with Salix Homes to explore opportunities to secure developments within the 
Salix Homes portfolio.

2.03 Salix Homes proposed the use of the Arrow Street site in Lower Broughton. 
This site was subsequently included as a development opportunity in the Extra Care 
Update report (Appendix 2).

2.04 Commissioners and Salix Homes have been undertaking feasibility work to 
assess the suitability of the site for an Extra Care development.

2.05 This feasibility assessment has reached a stage where Salix Homes has 
presented the outline site plans to commissioners (Appendix 3) to develop a 68 

Page 36



apartment Extra Care scheme with 6 additional bungalows on the opposite side of 
Arrow Street.

2.06 Commissioning Officers are satisfied that the current outline proposals 
presented by Salix Homes will meet the Council’s and CCG’s agreed strategic 
commissioning intentions relating to the growth of Extra Care in Salford and address 
the development of additional Extra Care capacity in an area of Salford that is 
currently underserved by Extra Care.

2.07 The Arrow Street proposal has been developed in collaboration with Salford 
based Architects OMI. The proposal is for a three storey building on the site of land 
on Arrow Street in Lower Broughton owned by Salix Homes that is currently 
underdeveloped.

2.08 Appendix 3 shows the proposed site layout and the proposed building plans. 
The entrance to the proposed building is on Arrow Street. There are a number of 
office and communal rooms on the ground floor with 10 apartments to the rear of the 
ground floor. The first and second floors comprise 29 apartments. All apartments 
benefit from an external terrace area. The current proposal shows 17 apartments with 
2 bedrooms and 51 with 1 double bedroom.

2.09 The Arrow Street site is in a flood risk area and to mitigate flood risk the ground 
floor accommodation is raised 1.5m above the street level.

2.10 The site will also benefit from landscaped external space that could be used for 
horticulture to support the Extra Care facility.

2.11 Salix Homes will take the lead for the development of the proposed Arrow 
Street Extra Care Scheme including the financial cost and management of the 
development. Salix Homes will assume the landlord responsibility for the Extra Care 
Scheme.

2.12 The development proposal will take 18-24 months to build.

2.13 Salix Homes have had initial pre-application discussions with the local planning 
authority and are proposing to submit a planning application in November 2019.

2.14  A local Ward Councillor briefing meeting will be planned in the next few 
weeks.

2.15 Subject to planning approval, Commissioners will work with Salford Care 
Organisation to apply the regulated Care Service model and service specification to 
the scheme. Commissioners are currently developing a new Extra Care regulated 
Care Service model and specification for the renewals of the existing 6 contracts in 

Page 37



September 2020. This will include a full business case for any additional Pooled 
Budget investment required.

2.16 Should the scheme progress into a development phase there will be a close 
alignment to the plans to develop a new primary care hub in Lower Broughton.

2.17 To note, further pipeline schemes in Irlam (For Housing) Worsley (For 
Housing), Swinton (Salix) and Pendleton (Pendleton Together) are being discussed. 
As these schemes progress Commissioners will provide update reports.

3. Recommendations

3.1 The Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to:

 Review the contents of the report and provide any comment.
 Provide support to Salix Homes to make a formal planning application for the 

proposal.

Paul Walsh
Head of Integrated Commissioning

4. Appendices

Appendix 1 – Extra Care Position Statement and Strategy

Appendix 2 – Extra Care Strategic Development Update

Appendix 3 – Arrow Street – Additional Information

Page 38



1 | P a g e

Extra Care Position Statement and Strategic Recommendations for Salford

Final Draft for Comment

1.0 Purpose of this Paper

1.1 The purpose of the paper is to set out the strategic and economic case for 
Extra Care within the context of our approach to new models of care now and in the 
future.

1.2 The paper describes Extra Care on the continuum of care services, and 
provides a local and national context, drawing on best available evidence to describe 
the current position of Extra Care in Salford.

1.3 The paper goes on the look forward at projected population changes and the 
implications of these changes on the care market, including consideration for a new 
approach to Extra Care.

1.4 A financial appraisal of Extra Care identifies the cost components of the 
provision of care services, rental costs and building costs. A comparison is made 
between the cost of Extra Care and the Cost of Residential Care.

1.5 A partnership approach to developing Extra Care is described that draws 
upon recent successful building projects in Salford.

1.6 Finally the report presents a series of recommendations for further work.

2.0 What is Extra Care?

2.1 Extra Care Housing (Schemes) provides self-contained accommodation with 
Care Quality Commissioning (CQC) regulated care and support available on site. 
Extra Care works by combining effective accommodation solutions for vulnerable 
people that aims to provide a ‘home for life’ with on-site care services that are design 
to ensure the people who live in Extra Care have their independence needs met. The 
combination and coalescence of ‘Housing’ and ‘Care’ solutions means people who 
live in Extra Care have the benefit of a manage community of care, with modern 
accommodation, onsite activities and care and support services that focus on the 
maintenance and improvement of daily living skills – also known as ‘reablement’.

Figure 1 – Extra Care on the continuum of care

Page 39



2 | P a g e

2.2 Extra Care sits on a nationally recognised care pathway. People who benefit 
from Extra Care can be adults of any age but generally speaking the starting age for 
someone living in Extra Care is around 50 years old. People who benefit from living 
in Extra Care can also have a range of needs, including mental health, learning 
disability and physical/sensory disability. Extra Care schemes can accommodate a 
wide range of needs and most schemes operate to the nationally suggested model 
of 1/3 High, 1/3 Medium and 1/3 Low need. This model means people are able to 
support and sustain a cooperative culture within the schemes that draws upon the 
assets of everyone living in the community.

2.3 Best practice schemes have communal areas for socialising, wellbeing 
activities, dining and often include accommodation for health related activity, for 
example, space for therapy or room for clinic appointments. Schemes also provide 
accommodation for on-site staff. Some Extra Care schemes are based on 
community hub models, where members of the local community can also access 
services or activities. Crucially schemes are designed to enable adults with 
independence needs to live in the least restrictive environment as a tenant in their 
own home, whilst receiving the care and support they need, avoiding the need to 
move into a more restrictive residential care setting. Extra Care delivers a number of 
benefits to tenants including:

 Maintaining/improving health and wellbeing – schemes enable people to be 
active and to maintain a good diet. They are able to offer on-site clinic space 
for health practitioners. Schemes have both internal and external space 
circulation space as well a rest areas - which means people are encourage to 
move about.

 Quality of life – the communal nature of schemes mean people socialise and 
make friends. Schemes also have on-site facilities for social activities and 
scheme landlords provide support to run a range of groups, activities and 
events for people. Dining and seating areas in schemes create opportunities 
for socialising allowing people to spend time with each other.

 Allowing the continued involvement of family carers – Extra Care schemes are 
designed to be part of and add value to the communities they are built in. On 
average people who move into Extra Care lived less than 4 miles from the 
scheme (Salford data). This means schemes are often close to family and 
friends. They are generally built on or near to transport routes and have on-
site car parking. Family and friends can visit the scheme whenever they like 
during the day (and at night with arrangement). Visitors can spend time in the 
scheme apartments, in the communal areas or take trips out.

3.0 Extra Care and Physical Health evidence

3.1 Studies that have examined health within age-segregated developments have 
highlighted that relative to the general population, those in age-segregated 
developments report higher levels of quality of life, physical health, and lower levels 
of mental health problems compared to the general population (Kingston et al 2001; 
Walker et al., 1998; Van Bilsen et al., 2008). Some studies identified the 
mechanisms underlying these positive results as stemming from an ethos of 
“autonomy with inclusion” together with community fostered peer support (Kingston 

Page 40



3 | P a g e

et al 2001). Looking specifically at the case for Extra Care housing, Garwood 
(2008a) concluded that residence in one scheme was associated with an 
improvement in the social care residents needed, more so than might be expected 
from a traditional care home setting. Residents in this study also judged that the 
quality of care was higher than in a residential home setting (Garwood 2008).

3.2 Research by the International Longevity Centre-UK found that around a 
quarter of people who moved into Extra Care housing with social care needs (or 
went on to develop them) experienced an improvement within five years, were less 
likely to be admitted to hospital overnight and had fewer falls.1 Subsequent research 
found that, in comparison to older people in the general community, Extra Care 
residents reported having a higher quality of life, a higher sense of control and lower 
levels of loneliness. While at Aston University, Professor Holland led a three-year 
study2 on the impact on older people’s health of living in the Extra Care Charitable 
Trust’s Extra Care schemes. The study found a significant reduction from a median 
of five to seven days to a median of about one to two days for unplanned hospital 
visits. A number of reason for this impact were noted including: on site a wellbeing 
adviser; access to nursing; a drop-in advice clinic where people can get advice on 
health issues; the physical access issues; wet room showers; no steps or stairs.

4.0 Extra Care and Mental Health evidence

4.1 In terms of mental health and wellbeing, a number of reviews suggest that the 
majority of Extra Care housing residents report good quality of life and social 
wellbeing (Dutton 2009, Croucher et al 2006, Callaghan et al 2009, Housing LIN 
2004, Bäumker et al 2008). A number of studies cite the design of the Extra Care 
housing model as being conducive to a reduction in social isolation and loneliness 
through offering greater opportunities for social contact, neighbourliness and mutual 
support (Institute of Public Care 2007), with some studies quantifying a positive 
effect. For example, Callaghan and colleagues (2009) find that two-thirds of 
residents reported good quality of life 3.

4.2 Extra Care housing is considered a particularly favourable option among older 
people with mild to moderate dementia and their families and carers, who are still 
able to maintain involvement in the delivery of care, although, are removed of the 
main burden (Riseborough & Fletcher, 2008). Residents with dementia in other 
studies have also been shown to enjoy good quality of life through the provision of 
individualised activities, maximisation of dignity and independence, and meaningful 
social interactions in the Extra Care setting (Dutton 2009). In another study, 
residents with dementia were found to maintain their quality of life and stayed almost 
as long those with general needs before exiting Extra Care housing (Vallelly et al 
2006)3.

4.3 Extra Care can also benefit residents with mild to moderate dementia with 
research demonstrating they maintain quality of life as long as residents without 
dementia4. Extra Care has also been the source of some of the more innovative 
approaches to dementia care.

Page 41



4 | P a g e

5.0 Extra Care and Cost Benefit evidence

5.1 Extra Care also offers cost savings to local authorities as people maintain 
independence and do not require residential care. These cost savings are derived 
from provision of flexible care and procurement efficiencies (providing care on one 
site rather than multiple sites) amongst other factors5. Research shows that each 
year a resident postpones moving into residential care, the State saves on average 
£28,0806 

5.2 A longitudinal study3 from 2002 to 2010 and covering 1400 to 1600 Extra 
Care properties found that Extra Care tenants were less likely to be admitted to 
hospital initially than those in unsupported housing in the community and were more 
likely to be admitted only once a serious condition had developed. The research did 
find Extra Care tenants were more likely to stay longer in hospital if they were 
admitted – which indicates schemes are able to support tenants to a higher level of 
need with hospital admission occurring at point of higher acuity. The study estimated 
a potential cost saving to the NHS from a reduction in hospital admissions of up to 
£512 per person per year.

5.3 Professor Holland’s study found that the NHS costs for those in the study 
sample were reduced by 38% and that the costs for frail residents had reduced by 
51%.2 In addition, local authority costs of providing lower and higher level social care 
were 17.8% (£1,222) and 26% (£4,556) lower respectively on average per person 
per year.

6.0 Extra Care – Policy

6.1 In the recent Funding Supported Housing: Policy Statement and Consultation 
paper (Oct 2017) published by the Department for Communities and Local 
Government and the Department for Work and Pensions, the government sets out a 
renew commitment to support the provision of Extra Care. The report recognises that 
Extra Care housing is a home to hundreds of thousands of vulnerable people across 
the country and that their safety and quality of life is paramount. The report confirms 
that Extra Care supports people to live independently for longer, ensuring more 
fulfilling lives for their residents, and brings wider savings to other public services, in 
particular to NHS and social care budgets. Reports have suggested that the net 
benefit of providing capital investment in supported housing for older people is £219 
million, with most of the benefits coming from preventing costly hospital stays or 
residential care.7 

6.2 Seventy one percent of all supported housing is sheltered and Extra Care 
housing units, and the majority of tenants are older people.8 Projections suggest the 
numbers of supported homes for older people may need to increase from 460,000 to 
625,000 by 2030 (a 35% increase).9 It is therefore vital that the future supply of Extra 
Care housing is secure to continue protecting these groups of people. 

6.3 The Funding Supported Housing: Policy Statement and Consultation paper 
also sets out a requirement for local authorities to work with other local partners 
(including tenants or representatives) to produce a local strategic plan for supported 

Page 42



5 | P a g e

housing, and to undertake an assessment of provision and need for all supported 
housing groups. 

6.4 The recently publish paper (February 2018) Housing For Older People 
commissioned by the Communities and Local Government Committee recognises 
that “Accessible and specialist homes are a key to housing an ageing population. 
Specialist housing, particularly Extra Care housing, can promote the health and well-
being of older people and their carers”.

6.5 The report also referenced ministerial comment about the proposed Sheltered 
Rent (for supported housing) with the Minister stating that he was “confident” that the 
sheltered rent would “reflect the true cost of providing sheltered and Extra Care 
housing across the country but also looks to reflect what the future cost will be”. 

6.6 The report cites projections for a future shortfall of Extra Care housing 
calculated by the Housing LIN reaching 75,000 extra units by 2035 in England which 
equates to shortfall of 245 units for Salford. Note – the Housing LIN calculation also 
assumes a net increase in the supply of care home beds across England of 200,000 
beds or 700 for Salford. 

6.7 The Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership has recognised 
Extra Care as being a strategic driver for developing new models of care. Extra Care 
development has been agreed as a strategic priority for Greater Manchester 
Directors of Adult Social Services. A strategic approach and a working group to 
support the development of Extra Care across localities has been established and 
Salford is part of this working group.

7.0 Extra Care - Local Strategy

7.1 Salford City Council’s Housing Strategy 
(https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/388491/shaping-housing-in-salford-2020-a-
housing-strategy-for-salford.pdf) recognises the need to develop housing solutions 
for vulnerable people who have additional needs living in Salford. The strategy 
states:

“Salford has an increasing ageing population therefore more people will 
need to be supported to live independently for as long as possible. As 
well as promoting independent living there is also a recognised need for 
specialised housing that has both design and support features that are 
able to flexibly meet the very specific needs of an increasingly frail 
population in Salford.”

7.2 Extra Care Housing is an excellent example of specialised housing for 
particularly frail people or people as they age. New build schemes in particular can 
be designed and planned in a way that contributes to the provision of a good quality 
of life for older/vulnerable people, particularly those who require elements of social 
and nursing care. The standard and management of Extra Care schemes can help to 
ensure that as people age they continue to live dignified lives, remain independent, 

Page 43

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/388491/shaping-housing-in-salford-2020-a-housing-strategy-for-salford.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/388491/shaping-housing-in-salford-2020-a-housing-strategy-for-salford.pdf


6 | P a g e

are socially included and receive the care and support they need in their own homes, 
helping to promote continued health and prevent deterioration in existing conditions.

7.3 In order to meet the forecast demand for housing, care and support for 
Salford’s ageing population, Salford acknowledges that it will need to develop more 
Extra Care schemes. Salford has a number of planned Extra Care housing 
developments which incorporate a partnership approach across health, social care, 
housing providers, developers and support/care providers. This collaborative 
approach will ensure that the Extra Care models developed will meet the health and 
social care objectives of the city. However, options will need to be explored which 
help to further enhance the supply of this provision.”

8.0 Extra Care – Local Supply and service model

8.1 Salford’s Extra Care Housing supply has grown steadily over the last 20 
years. Initial developments focussed on converting traditional sheltered housing 
stock into Extra Care – Ninian Gardens (Walkden), Monica Court (Monton) and 
Astley Court (Irlam) and Mount Carmel Court (Ordsall). These conversions created 
an Extra Care supply of 193 units for the people of Salford. In 2009 Moores House 
(Claremont) opened as Salford’s first purpose-built Extra Care scheme and this was 
followed by Amblecote Gardens (Little Hulton) in 2015. Soon after Ninian Garden 
was demolished and replaced in 2016 by Bourke Gardens (Walden). These 
additions brought Salford’s Extra Care supply to 311 units.

Table 1 - Current Extra Care Schemes In Salford

Scheme Model Landlord Care Provider Units

Monica 
Court

Sheltered conversion 
to Extra Care

City West Comfort Call 47

Astley Court Sheltered conversion 
to Extra Care

City West Comfort Call 56

Mount 
Carmel

Sheltered conversion 
to Extra Care

St Vincents Comfort Call 36

Moores 
House

Purpose built Extra 
Care

Retail Trust Comfort Call 50

Amblecote Purpose built Extra 
Care

City West Comfort Call 66

Bourke 
Gardens

Purpose built Extra 
Care

City West Care Watch 56

Total 311

Page 44



7 | P a g e

8.2 In comparing the supply of Extra Care with other care services that sit on the 
continuum of care (Figure 1) it is evident that the current supply of sheltered housing 
of approximately 3500 is significantly higher than that of Extra Care. However, the 
combined supply of Residential and Nursing Care beds in Salford is over 1500, so 
Salford has 5 times as many Care Home beds as it does Extra Care units. This 
suggests an imbalance in the levels of Extra Care as it could be expected that a 
service supporting higher needs would have a smaller supply than that of a service 
that supports a lower but broader range of need.

Figure 2 – Representative service supply on the continuum of care

8.3 Under current Housing LIN standards for the provision of Extra Care 
accommodation it is reasonable to assert that only the newer Extra Care schemes of 
Moores House, Amblecote Gardens and Bourke Gardens would meet all the current 
building standards for Extra Care. It should therefore be noted that a strategy 
including  replacing the converted sheltered housing Extra Care schemes would 
have net zero impact on the supply of Extra Care units but would have a significant 
investment implication.

8.4 The provision of Extra Care to local people is managed through Adult Social 
Care assessment and care planning, via the ICO. This means that people who live in 
Extra Care schemes in Salford will be allocated their place through Care Act 
processes. This allows the ICO to control admissions into the schemes and ensure 
the national prescribed and locally adopted model of 1/3 High:Medium:Low need is 
maintained.

8.5 The Council maintains responsibility for commissioning the regulated care 
service at each of the schemes and also for commissioning any housing 
management support delivered by the Landlord at the scheme. These commissions 
are managed through the ICO’s supply chain functions under the terms of their 
contract with the Council.

9.0 Population level analysis

9.1 There is limited local and national information available to guide Local 
Authorities in determining the number of Extra Care units needed to meet the 
demands of the local population. However, the Care Services Improvement 

Page 45



8 | P a g e

Partnership (CSIP) document entitled More Choice, Greater Voice: A Toolkit for 
Producing a Strategy for Accommodation with Care for Older People, recommends 
that there should be around 25 Extra Care units per 1000 over 75 population.  

9.2 Using this figure along with current and projected population figures for 
Salford (source POPPI website) it would suggest that in order to meet demand, 
Salford needs 408 units of Extra Care housing in 2017, which is a current shortfall of 
97 units and 605 units of Extra Care housing by 2035, which would be a projected 
shortfall of 294 units.

Table 2 – Salford Population and Extra Care Supply

2017 2020 2025 2030 2035
75+ population 16,300 17,100 19,900 21,500 24,200
Supply per 25 1000 >75yrs 408 428 498 538 605
Current Extra Care supply 311 311 311 311 311
Difference -97 -117 -187 -227 -294

10.0 Extra Care - Local Demand Patterns

10.1 In general demand data indicates a consistent level of both admission (5.6 per 
month) and departures (4 per month) to Extra Care since 2003. The difference in 
admissions and departure rates is explained by the opening of the 4 schemes noted 
on the chart. This data also suggests that the allocation process applied to manage 
demand (placement via ASC assessment) enables Extra Care to operate within a 
level of demand certainty, which generally results in market stability.

Page 46



9 | P a g e

Chart 1 – Extra Care Admission and Departures

A. Opening of Astley Court & Ninian Gardens
B. Admissions to Shelmerdine Gardens
C. Admissions to Amblecote
D. Opening of Bourke Gardens

10.2 Admission data since 2015 indicates that 44% of those new tenants of Extra 
Care had an informal carer - which might have been a spouse or a close relative - 
and we also know that 75% of those admitted in this time lived alone. This suggests 
that a significant factor in the allocation of Extra Care for an individually is the loss of 
their informal carer and that Extra Care is a preferred choice for people in those 
circumstances.

10.3 Adults Social Care assessment information over 2016/17 (Chart 2 below) 
indicated that people who are assessed prior to admission to an Extra Care scheme 
tended to have less dependency compared to the cohort of people who were places 
into residential care. For example 73% of people admitted into Extra Care were 
‘unable to achieve’ the task of ‘managing a habitable home’, whereas 95% of people 
admitted to a residential home were ‘unable to achieve’ the task of ‘managing a 
habitable home’. Also, 54% of people admitted into Extra Care were ‘unable to 
achieve’ the task of ‘maintaining nutrition’, whereas 96% of people admitted into 
residential care were ‘unable to achieve’ the task of ‘maintaining nutrition’.

10.4 It is also evident that while the level of need on entering residential care in on 
average higher, there is a cohort of people who are being placed into residential care 
at a comparable dependency level to those people who are place into Extra Care. 
Chart 2 below implies a dependency relationship for the ‘unable to achieve the 
outcome’ category between the Extra Care and Residential Care cohort. This further 
suggests that the availability of Extra Care places in the local market (4 departures 
per month as noted about) places limits on the care choices for people through the 
ASC assessment and care planning process. It is plausible to suggest that a 
significant proportion of people being placed in Residential Care could be supported 
in Extra Case based on the assumptions of dependency level match across the two 
cohorts.

Page 47



10 | P a g e

Chart 2 – Extra Care Vs Residential Care, Need on Admission

10.5  The age profile and need profile for people entering Extra Care is consistent 
with national modelling for Extra Care. Chart 3 below shows the mean entry into 
Extra Care is 81 with a wide range of aged and dependencies. The majority of 
people who live in Extra Care are aged 75-94, but within this age band there is a 
wide range of assessed need.

Page 48



11 | P a g e

Chart 3 – Extra Care Age on Entry

10.6 The majority of people who enter Extra Care do so with a physical health 
need (recorded on Care First) followed by Dementia and Stroke. This indicates that a 
significant proportion of people living in Extra Care will have moderate to high levels 
of health needs as well we social care needs. This factor is important when 
considering the health needs provision for future models of Extra Care, particularly in 
the commissioning arrangements for the regulated Care service and potential impact 
of new Extra Care scheme on the developing new models of neighbourhood care.

Chart 4 – Extra Care and Recorded Health Condition on Admission

Page 49



12 | P a g e

10.7 The Housing LIN suggests models of Extra Care should provide 2/3 of tenants 
with ‘homes for life’. Salford data for the last 3 years indicates that only 54% of 
people died while being a tenant in their Extra Care scheme (Chart 5). However only 
18% went on to be admitted to a care home which suggests our local position might 
be closer to the expected national profile, with further analysis of the ‘other reason’ 
coding necessary to create a clearer understanding of departures from the schemes.

Chart 5 – Reason for Leaving Extra Care

10.8 Chart 6 below shows the demand for the provision of Extra Care is equitable 
across the communities of Salford. Further demand analysis shows that people tend 
to access the Extra Care schemes near to where they lived, for example, 58% of 
people living in Amblecote Gardens in Little Hulton previously lived in either Little 
Hulton, Walkden South or Walkden North and 50% of people living in Astley Court 
previously lived in either Irlam or Cadishead. This is consistent with Housing LIN 
national analysis that shows people move less than 4 miles to live in an Extra Care 
scheme. This suggests that the local connection between people and their preferred 
Extra Care scheme is important when making a choice about entering an Extra Care 
scheme. It also suggest that the demands that any new scheme might place on 
existing neighbourhood infrastructure, for example, GP, pharmacy, dental, VCSE 
sector will be minimal.

Page 50



13 | P a g e

Chart 6 – Address Location Immediately Prior to Entering Extra Care

11.0 Relationship between Residential Care placement and Extra Care

“The right kind of housing can keep people healthy, support them to live 
independently and reduce the need for home care or residential care. The 
social care green paper, planned for publication in summer 2018, must 
consider the range of housing for older people, from mainstream and 
accessible homes to Supported and Extra Care housing, as well as access 
to adaptations and repairs. In particular, the social care green paper 
should consider the role of Extra Care housing in the provision of social 
care alongside domiciliary and residential care.”

Communities and Local Government Committee report, Housing and Older People, February 2018.

11.1 The relationship and interplay between Extra Care and Residential Care has 
gained significant recognition within national policy over recent years. Housing LIN 
continues to promote the benefits of Extra Care as a better alternative to residential 
care and academic research is drawing new conclusions about the positive impact of 
Extra Care on the care system on for people who live in Extra Care.

11.2 A. Kerslake and P. Stilwell, (2004) ‘What makes older people choose 
residential care, and are there alternatives?’ Institute of Public Care, a centre of 
Oxford Brookes University, suggested that 30% of people they surveyed could have 
entered Extra Care rather than residential care. Whilst this research was limited 

Page 51



14 | P a g e

(small study cohort) it does support a view that more people could be placed in Extra 
Care.

11.3 The recently published North West ASC Market Sustainability assessment 
undertaken by Alder Advice suggests that a 20% reduction in the demand for care 
home places by 2021 would be necessary to manage within planned budget 
projection. 

11.4 An analysis of local demand data in Salford suggests there is relationship 
(overlap) between the assessed needs of people entering residential care and Extra 
Care. If we consider the current demand for residential care and match this demand 
against that of Extra Care it is possible to make an estimate of the likely demand for 
Extra Care through displacing residential care demand – that being placing people 
into Extra Care rather than residential care

11.5 Salford data (Care First) indicates approximately 350 people per year are 
placed into a care home following an assessment. Assuming a range of 20-30% of 
this cohort could have been placed in an Extra Care scheme as a more suitable 
choice of service it would indicate that between 70 and 105 people per year could be 
deflected from residential care into Extra Care should the supply of Extra Care be 
sufficient.

11.6 Local data indicates a departure rate of 4 people per month (48 per year) from 
Salford’s 311 Extra Care units. As a ratio of the supply of Extra Care Units this is 
equal to 0.15 of the total capacity.

11.7 In order to meet an enhanced demand figure of 20% of people who are 
currently placed in residential care (70 people) the Extra Care supply of 311 units 
would need to be increase by 476 to 787 units.

11.8 Based on the largest Extra Care schemes in Salford this increase in units 
would require an additional 7 Extra Care schemes to be developed across the city. 
Since 2003 Salford has delivered 5 Extra Care Schemes of an average size of 55 
units. Given this historical development pattern it could take Salford up to 2030 to 
develop the Extra Care schemes to replace the need for lower dependency 
residential care. Consideration should therefore be given to the development of 
larger Extra Care Scheme across the city. The Housing LIN cites best practice 
examples of Extra Care scheme elsewhere in the UK that are in excess of 100 units 
in size so it is not uncommon for such schemes to be developed and operate 
successfully.

12.0 Extra Care Expansion to Meet Population Changes

12.1 Section 9 indicates that Salford needs 408 units of Extra Care housing in 
2017, which is a current shortfall of 97 units and 605 units of Extra Care housing by 
2035, which would be a projected shortfall of 294 units. This figure could be seen as 
the minimum expected level of provision of Extra Care for Salford.

Page 52



15 | P a g e

12.2 In order to meet minimum expected level now an additional 100 unit Extra 
Care scheme would need to be built within the next two years, with a further two 100 
unit Extra Care schemes by 2035.

12.3 Clearly adopting this approach would not respond to the demand 
displacement potential from Residential Care and would likely result in the need to 
expand the supply of Residential Care in Salford. Section 6.6 proposes an additional 
700 care home beds might be needed in Salford by 2035 to meet population 
demands. Salford’s average care home size is approximately 50 beds with the 
largest being 121, this suggests 8-10 care homes might need to be developed by 
2035.

13.0 Financial Assessment of Extra Care and a comparison to Residential 
Care

13.1 Current model of Extra Care - Care Costs

13.2 Based upon the current model of Extra Care a “typical” scheme could be 
described as a 60 bed unit providing support to people of high, medium and low 
need on an equal ratio. The level of support required based upon this assessment of 
need is deemed to be 9 hours per week for service user with high need, 5.25 hours 
per week for service users with medium need and 1.5 hours per week for service 
users with low need.  

13.3 The costs of care in relation to the Extra Care model described above are as 
follows:

Table 3 – current Extra Care ‘care’ costs

Level of Support
No of Service 
Users

Hours per Service 
User per Week

Hourly Cost (per 
service user)

Weekly Cost (per 
service user)

Annual Cost (per 
service user) Total Annual Cost

High 20 9 £13.62 £122.58 £6,391.67 £127,833
Medium 20 5.25 £13.62 £71.51 £3,728.48 £74,570
Low 20 1.5 £13.62 £20.43 £1,065.28 £21,306
Total 60 £223,709

13.4 This model assumes all care costs are met by Adult Social Care budgets and 
does not take into account any client contributions which are considered below.

13.5 Current model of Extra Care - Other Costs

13.6 In addition to the costs of care, payments are due to Extra Care landlords for 
Rent, Service Charges and Catering Provision and these costs are met either 
directly by the service user or through Housing Benefits. Charges for rent and the 
service charge element are divided into Housing Benefit eligible and Housing Benefit 
ineligible charges.  Eligible charges are recovered from Central Government by 
Salford City Council and ineligible charges are paid directly by the tenant. 

Page 53



16 | P a g e

13.7 A typical breakdown of rent and service charges are shown below:

Table 4 – current Extra Care ‘non-care’ costs

Description
Weekly Cost - 
1 bed unit

Weekly Cost - 
2 bed unit

LAHRA Basic Rent £114.18 £135.70
LAHRA Heating Charge £0.60 £0.60
LAHRA Service Charge £38.02 £38.02
Management Charge £3.65 £3.65
Additional Housing Element £13.96 £13.96
AHM Management Charge £1.92 £1.92
Total - Eligible Charges £172.33 £193.85
Management Charge £0.09 £0.09
Additional Housing Element £6.60 £6.60
AHM Management Charge £0.99 £0.99
Total - Ineligible Charges £7.68 £7.68
Total Charges £180.01 £201.53

13.8 This model assumes the landlord is a housing association and the rent and 
service charges have been assessed by Salford City Council Housing Benefit team 
and are considered to be reasonable. If the landlord is a private landlord or the 
proposed rent charge is deemed excessive it is likely the level of rent that Salford 
City Council would be able to recover would be determined by referral to the rent 
office and any rent charged by the landlord in excess of this amount would represent 
a cost to the Council as we would not be able to recover from Central Government.   

13.9 Client Contributions

13.10 The table below considers the financial contribution that a service user might 
make towards the cost of their care. 

Table 5 – Service user financial contributions - Extra Care Vs Residential Care

Residential Care
Non Residential 
Care (ECSH) Comments

Client income £159.35 £277.45
less: Personal Allowance / Protected Income -£24.90 -£189.00
Maximum Client Contribution £134.45 £88.45
less: Disability Related Spending £0.00 -£20.00
Average client contribution £134.45 £61.00 90% rounded to nearest £ for ECSH

13.11 Contributions have been modelled based upon the service user being a single 
person whose income is at pension credit level who has been assessed as having 
high dependency. This can be considered typical but the contribution is means 
tested based on an individual’s circumstances so does vary and would alter any 
financial comparison between residential and non-residential care settings. It is also 
assumed that service users living in a non-residential setting would have additional 
income from disability benefits or would be supported by Salford City Council’s 
charging assessment team to claim them. The maximum contribution for non-

Page 54



17 | P a g e

residential care is reduced by any disability related spending incurred by a service 
user which is difficult to quantify and on average is in the region of £20 per week.

13.12 It should be noted for Extra Care, maximum service user contributions are 
capped at the following levels:

High Dependency £106.14

Medium Dependency £15.92

Low Dependency £0.00

13.13 Please also note that for non-residential care there is no upper capital limit 
whereby a client is considered able to fund the full cost of their care as is the case in 
residential settings. People in residential care with savings in excess of £23,250 who 
currently fund the full cost of their place may, if transferred to a non-residential 
setting, qualify for a subsidy.   

13.14 Comparison of Extra Care to Residential Care

13.15 As detailed in this report it is suggested that there are a cohort of people who 
would benefit from their care needs being met through Extra Care rather than 
through residential care. The costs comparison  between Extra Care schemes and 
residential care is difficult for a number of reasons including differences between 
where costs are picked up within the system i.e. in adults social care budget or by 
central government budgets or directly by the service users. It is also difficult to 
model the financial contribution that a service user might be asked to make towards 
their package of care.

13.16 The table below sets out a comparison of 2017/18 rates for Extra Care and 
Salford’s standard rate for older people in Residential Care regardless of how / 
where the costs is met within the system.

Table 6 – Service costs - Extra Care Vs Residential Care

Description Residential Care ECSH (High - 9 Hours)
Care Costs £278.04 £122.58
Hotel Costs £140.53 £180.01
Food Costs £23.50 £51.33
Gross Total £442.07 £353.92
less: Client Contribution -£134.45 -£61.00
Net Total £307.62 £292.92

13.17 The £307.62 net cost of residential care is a cost to the adult social care 
system, however for Extra Care only the care component is met through adult social 
care budget. The hotel costs and food costs are either paid directly by the service 
user or met through housing benefits which is recoverable from central government. 

13.18 A revised cost comparison showing costs that are met within adult social care 
budgets is set out below.

Page 55



18 | P a g e

Table 7 – Adult Social Care budget costs - Extra Care Vs Residential Care

Description Residential Care ECSH (High - 9 Hours)
Care Costs £278.04 £122.58
Hotel Costs £140.53 £0.00
Food Costs £23.50 £0.00
Gross Total £442.07 £122.58
less: Client Contribution -£134.45 -£61.00
Net Total £307.62 £61.58

13.19 This would suggest that costs in the region of £246 p/w per service user could 
be avoided through care needs being met through Extra Care rather than by 
residential care. 

13.20 A model for Extra Care in the future?

13.21 It is likely that service users who could be supported by Extra Care rather than 
in a residential setting would have a higher level of need and might require more 
than the 9 hours support than in the current model. A revised model of care could be 
developed to allow service users who are currently or would have been supported in 
a residential setting to be supported in Extra Care. For illustrative purposes only the 
model below shows a revised Extra Care scheme where 40 service users who would 
have been supported in residential care are supported through Extra Care, being 
assessed as high dependency, receiving 19.4 hours of care (the average hours of 
care per week per service users assumed in the Salford’s standard rate for older 
people in Residential Care), this is then compared to the cost of supporting these 
service users in residential care. If this principle is to be taken forward the actual 
model would need to be developed to determine the offer that would be required to 
enable service users to transition from being supported in residential care setting to 
an Extra Care setting.

Table 8 – 60 Bed model cost comparison - Extra Care Vs Residential Care

No of Service 
Users

Hours per Service 
User per Week Level of Support

Hourly (per 
service user)

Weekly (per 
service user)

Annual (per 
service user) Total Annual

Hourly (per 
service user)

Weekly (per 
service user)

Annual (per 
service user) Total Annual

40 19.4 High £13.62 £264.23 £13,778 £551,104 £22.79 £442.07 £23,051 £922,032
20 1.5 Low £13.62 £20.43 £1,065 £21,306 £0.00 £0.00 £0 £0
60 Total Gross Cost £572,410 £922,032

40 19.4 High -£3.14 -£61.00 -£3,181 -£127,229 -£6.93 -£134.45 -£7,011 -£280,424
20 1.5 Low £0.00 £0.00 £0 £0 £0.00 £0.00 £0 £0
60 Total Client Contribution -£127,229 -£280,424

40 19.4 High £10.48 £203.23 £10,597 £423,876 £15.86 £307.62 £16,040 £641,607
20 1.5 Low £13.62 £20.43 £1,065 £21,306 £0.00 £0.00 £0 £0
60 Total Net Cost £445,181 £641,607

Client Contribution

Net Cost

Residential CareECSH

Gross Cost

13.22 The model again illustrates the potential cost avoidance of this approach with 
net costs avoided in the region of £196K, however it should be noted that actual 
costs avoided will be different as client income will vary from the amounts included 
for both Residential and Extra Care, the level of costs avoided will also be dependent 
on the makeup of the offer for Extra Care. Client contributions for Extra Care have 

Page 56



19 | P a g e

also been modelled based on the 40 user being assessed as high dependency, if 
any of these service users were classed as medium dependency the maximum client 
contribution would be capped at £15.92 per week increasing the net cost of the 
scheme.

13.23 The government has recently consulted on funding for supported housing. 
The extract below from the consultation documentation summarises the proposal in 
relation to Extra Care Housing

13.24 A ‘Sheltered Rent’ – for those in sheltered and Extra Care housing

 For sheltered and Extra Care housing, often for older people but also 
including working-age tenants.

 Introducing a ‘Sheltered Rent’, a type of social rent, which keeps funding for 
sheltered and Extra Care housing in the welfare system.

 Better cost control, as the social housing regulator will use existing powers to 
regulate gross eligible rent (rent inclusive of eligible service charges) charged 
by registered providers. We are seeking views on the appropriate level to set 
gross eligible rent at through our consultation.

 This model will come in to effect from 2020.
 This will provide the certainty providers need in order to invest in future 

supply, whilst providing enhanced cost controls and ensuring value for money 
for the taxpayer, and good outcomes for tenants

13.25 Full details can be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/65602
7/Funding_supported_housing_-_policy_statement_and_consultation.pdf 

13.26 The full impact of any changes as a result of this consultation will need to be 
reviewed when confirmed as they could potentially impact on the assumptions used 
in the modelling around the rent and services charges and the amount recoverable 
through housing benefit subsidy.  

14.0 Building Extra Care

14.1 Extra Care developments are generally brokered through a partnership 
arrangement between a commissioner (often a Local Authority) and a Registered 
Social Landlord (RSL). Some developments are undertaken independently by private 
housing developers for direct sale, but these tend to be in more affluent areas.

14.2 The scale of capital investment to develop Extra Care Housing has been set 
out by the Housing LIN. They have developed an indicative cost model for the 
development of a modern Extra Care scheme based on a typical three-storey, 
traditional construction, Extra Care facility in the north of England. The development 
comprises 77 one and two bedroom apartments covering a gross internal area (GIA) 
of 6,855 m2. Costs exclude site works and relate to 1st quarter 2015. This model 
suggest a development cost of £7.85m or £1,145 per square meter.

Page 57

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656027/Funding_supported_housing_-_policy_statement_and_consultation.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656027/Funding_supported_housing_-_policy_statement_and_consultation.pdf


20 | P a g e

14.3 Extra Care capital builds are generally funded by the RSL under a mortgage 
arrangement and often with the support of a Government Grant, for example, the 
Homes and Communities Agency: Care and Support Specialised Housing Fund 
2015 – these grant fund approximately 20-30% of the development cost. The Local 
Authority will often support developments through site assembly and in the planning 
application process. 

14.4 The RSL would then seek to make a return on the revenue (rental) income of 
the property to fund the mortgage repayments. Under this mechanism it is important 
that the Local Authority and the RSL understands the financial arrangements, the 
level of risk and the mechanism through which the financial risk is managed.

14.5 In areas where the Local Authority will be the sole purchaser of Extra Care 
places (as in Salford), the Local Authority will need to understand the impact of any 
scheme development on Housing Benefit payments and budgets (see Section 13).

14.6 Salford City Council has had recent successes in developing two bespoke 
Extra Care schemes in partnership with City West Housing, which shows the 
potential to development modern, affordable Extra Care. These scheme were 
developed under the approach outlined above.

14.7 Salford City Council has the potential to develop further partnerships across 
Strategic Spatial Planning, Strategic Housing, ASC Strategic Commissioning, Salford 
Clinical Commissioning Group, the Integrated Care Organisation, Registered Social 
Landlords and Care Providers to develop a growth strategy for Extra Care in Salford.

15.0 Conclusions 

15.1 This paper sets out the strategic case and economic case for the 
development of Extra Care as a preferred care service option for a cohort of people 
whose assessed needs could be better met in Extra Care as opposed to residential 
care.

15.2 The paper has drawn on current best evidence to show the service and 
outcome benefits of Extra Care. It also identifies the potential to support a new 
cohort of people whose needs are currently met in care home services. It suggests 
that Extra Care is a good service options for people who have assessed long term 
care needs and who require overnight care services.

15.3 The paper appraises the financial model of Extra Care and compares this with 
residential care. The paper goes on to present a financial model for a new approach 
to Extra Care that could support people with greater care needs. The paper suggests 
that there is a potential cost benefit of £196k per annum based on a model of a 60 
bedded Extra Care scheme compare to a traditional 60 bedded care home.

15.4 A market shaping assessment indicates that the scale of Extra Care 
development could be in the regional of 700 (minimum) to 1000 (maximum) 
additional units by 2030. This would account for both a current shortfall in Extra Care 
(~100), projected population increase (~200), a 20% residential care demand 

Page 58



21 | P a g e

deflection (~475) and an additional allocation to account for a proportion of the 
suggested increase in care home places (~200) – total (~1000). If should be noted 
that whilst these estimated figures will be subject to variation over time the scale of 
potential Extra Care expansion is significant.

15.5 Finally the paper identifies the approach that could be taken to develop Extra 
Care scheme, drawing on success of delivering new schemes in recently years. The 
paper indicates that Salford has the expertise and experience to deliver Extra Care 
scheme and also the potential to create a new approach to deliver Extra Care at 
scale over the next 5 to 10 years.

16.0 Next Steps

16.1 Commissioning are seeking feedback and comments on the paper, and on the 
next steps.

Page 59



22 | P a g e

References

1 International Longevity Centre-UK [HOP 079]

2 Aston Research Centre for Healthy Ageing (ARCHA) and the Extra Care Charitable 
Trust, Final report, April 2015

3 “Establishing the extra in Extra Care”, (2011), Kneale, D, International Longevity Centre 

4 Future of an ageing population, Government Office for Science, 2016| 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/535187/gs-16-
10-future-of-an-ageing-population.pdf

5 “Establishing the Extra in Extra Car Housing”; International Longevity Centre UK, (ILC-UK), 
2011. 

6 “Fit for Living Network: Position Statement”, Housing Associations Charitable Trust, 
(HACT), 2010. 

7 Frontier Economics report for the Homes and Communities Agency on Specialist 
Housing in 2010: Frontier Economics (2010) Financial benefits of investment in 
specialist housing for vulnerable and older people, see: https://www.frontier-
economics.com/documents/2014/06/financial-benefits-of-investment-frontier-
report.pdf 

8 Imogen Blood & Associates, Housing & Support Partnership and Ipsos Mori (2016), 
Supported accommodation review, 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supported-accommodation-review 

9 DCLG & DH commissioned research by Personal Social Services Research Unit of 
London School of Economics (2017), Projected demand for supported housing in 
Great Britain 2015 to 2030, 
http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/84075/1/Wittenberg_Projected%20demand_2017_author.pdf  

Page 60

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/535187/gs-16-10-future-of-an-ageing-population.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/535187/gs-16-10-future-of-an-ageing-population.pdf
https://www.frontier-economics.com/documents/2014/06/financial-benefits-of-investment-frontier-report.pdf
https://www.frontier-economics.com/documents/2014/06/financial-benefits-of-investment-frontier-report.pdf
https://www.frontier-economics.com/documents/2014/06/financial-benefits-of-investment-frontier-report.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supported-accommodation-review


1

REPORT OF THE

Adults Social Care Commissioning Group

TO 

Integrated Care Advisory Board

ON 

12 June 2019

TITLE: Extra Care Strategic Development Report

RECOMMENDATIONS:

1. To review and comment on the report

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

Extra Care is recognised as a good care option for vulnerable people and an 
alternative to Residential Care. There is a developing and strong evidence base for 
the benefits of Extra Care.

There is a national, Greater Manchester and local strategic drive to consider an 
expansion of Extra Care.

Salford currently has 311 units of Extra Care with approximately half being converted 
sheltered housing and half being purpose built Extra Care.

An economic appraisal indicates a positive cost benefit for Extra Care when 
compared with Residential Care.

Salford has recent experience of delivering new Extra Care schemes – Amblecote 
Gardens and Bourke Gardens and has good level of knowledge and expertise on 
Extra Care development.

Population pressures and care service remodelling (including a reduction in 
Residential Care beds) suggests that Salford could benefit from an additional 1000 
extra care units over the next 10-15 years.

Page 61



2

Commissioners have started to scope out the next strategic steps for the 
development of an Extra Care ‘scale-up’ programme in Salford.

The steps include matters relating to land/site identification, capital development, 
pathways/service models, activity/funding modelling.

The report provides an up to date position together with a risk analysis of the key 
areas for Extra Care scale-up.

1.0 Purpose of this Paper

1.01 The purpose of the paper is to set out the strategic and economic case for 
Extra Care within the context of our approach to new models of care now and in the 
future.

1.02 The paper describes Extra Care on the continuum of care services, and 
provides a local and national context, drawing on best available evidence to describe 
the current position of Extra Care in Salford.

1.03 The paper goes on the look forward at projected population changes and the 
implications of these changes on the care market, including consideration for a new 
approach to Extra Care.

1.04 A financial appraisal of Extra Care identifies the cost components of the 
provision of care services, rental costs and building costs. A comparison is made 
between the cost of Extra Care and the Cost of Residential Care.

1.05 A partnership approach to developing Extra Care is described that draws upon 
recent successful building projects in Salford.

1.06 The paper outlines a potential scale development of Extra Care.

2.0 What is Extra Care?

2.1 Extra Care Housing (Schemes) provides self-contained accommodation with 
Care Quality Commissioning (CQC) regulated care and support available on site. 
Extra Care works by combining effective accommodation solutions for vulnerable 
people that aims to provide a ‘home for life’ with on-site care services that are design 
to ensure the people who live in Extra Care have their independence needs met. The 
combination and coalescence of ‘Housing’ and ‘Care’ solutions means people who 
live in Extra Care have the benefit of a manage community of care, with modern 
accommodation, onsite activities and care and support services that focus on the 
maintenance and improvement of daily living skills – also known as ‘reablement’.

Page 62



3

Figure 1 – Extra Care on the continuum of care

2.2 Extra Care sits on a nationally recognised care pathway. People who benefit 
from Extra Care can be adults of any age but generally speaking the starting age for 
someone living in Extra Care is around 50 years old. People who benefit from living 
in Extra Care can also have a range of needs, including mental health, learning 
disability and physical/sensory disability. Extra Care schemes can accommodate a 
wide range of needs and most schemes operate to the nationally suggested model of 
1/3 High, 1/3 Medium and 1/3 Low need. This model means people are able to 
support and sustain a cooperative culture within the schemes that draws upon the 
assets of everyone living in the community.

2.3 Best practice schemes have communal areas for socialising, wellbeing 
activities, dining and often include accommodation for health related activity, for 
example, space for therapy or room for clinic appointments. Schemes also provide 
accommodation for on-site staff. Some Extra Care schemes are based on community 
hub models, where members of the local community can also access services or 
activities. Crucially schemes are designed to enable adults with independence needs 
to live in the least restrictive environment as a tenant in their own home, whilst 
receiving the care and support they need, avoiding the need to move into a more 
restrictive residential care setting. Extra Care delivers a number of benefits to tenants 
including:

 Maintaining/improving health and wellbeing – schemes enable people to be 
active and to maintain a good diet. They are able to offer on-site clinic space 
for health practitioners. Schemes have both internal and external space 
circulation space as well a rest areas - which means people are encourage to 
move about.

 Quality of life – the communal nature of schemes mean people socialise and 
make friends. Schemes also have on-site facilities for social activities and 
scheme landlords provide support to run a range of groups, activities and 
events for people. Dining and seating areas in schemes create opportunities 
for socialising allowing people to spend time with each other.

 Allowing the continued involvement of family carers – Extra Care schemes are 
designed to be part of and add value to the communities they are built in. On 
average people who move into Extra Care lived less than 4 miles from the 
scheme (Salford data). This means schemes are often close to family and 
friends. They are generally built on or near to transport routes and have on-
site car parking. Family and friends can visit the scheme whenever they like 

Page 63



4

during the day (and at night with arrangement). Visitors can spend time in the 
scheme apartments, in the communal areas or take trips out.

3.0 Extra Care and Physical Health evidence

3.1 Studies that have examined health within age-segregated developments have 
highlighted that relative to the general population, those in age-segregated 
developments report higher levels of quality of life, physical health, and lower levels 
of mental health problems compared to the general population (Kingston et al 2001; 
Walker et al., 1998; Van Bilsen et al., 2008). Some studies identified the mechanisms 
underlying these positive results as stemming from an ethos of “autonomy with 
inclusion” together with community fostered peer support (Kingston et al 2001). 
Looking specifically at the case for Extra Care housing, Garwood (2008a) concluded 
that residence in one scheme was associated with an improvement in the social care 
residents needed, more so than might be expected from a traditional care home 
setting. Residents in this study also judged that the quality of care was higher than in 
a residential home setting (Garwood 2008).

3.2 Research by the International Longevity Centre-UK found that around a 
quarter of people who moved into Extra Care housing with social care needs (or went 
on to develop them) experienced an improvement within five years, were less likely 
to be admitted to hospital overnight and had fewer falls.1 Subsequent research found 
that, in comparison to older people in the general community, Extra Care residents 
reported having a higher quality of life, a higher sense of control and lower levels of 
loneliness. While at Aston University, Professor Holland led a three-year study2 on 
the impact on older people’s health of living in the Extra Care Charitable Trust’s Extra 
Care schemes. The study found a significant reduction from a median of five to 
seven days to a median of about one to two days for unplanned hospital visits. A 
number of reason for this impact were noted including: on site a wellbeing adviser; 
access to nursing; a drop-in advice clinic where people can get advice on health 
issues; the physical access issues; wet room showers; no steps or stairs.

4.0 Extra Care and Mental Health evidence

4.1 In terms of mental health and wellbeing, a number of reviews suggest that the 
majority of Extra Care housing residents report good quality of life and social 
wellbeing (Dutton 2009, Croucher et al 2006, Callaghan et al 2009, Housing LIN 
2004, Bäumker et al 2008). A number of studies cite the design of the Extra Care 
housing model as being conducive to a reduction in social isolation and loneliness 
through offering greater opportunities for social contact, neighbourliness and mutual 
support (Institute of Public Care 2007), with some studies quantifying a positive 
effect. For example, Callaghan and colleagues (2009) find that two-thirds of residents 
reported good quality of life 3.

4.2 Extra Care housing is considered a particularly favourable option among older 
people with mild to moderate dementia and their families and carers, who are still 
able to maintain involvement in the delivery of care, although, are removed of the 
main burden (Riseborough & Fletcher, 2008). Residents with dementia in other 

Page 64



5

studies have also been shown to enjoy good quality of life through the provision of 
individualised activities, maximisation of dignity and independence, and meaningful 
social interactions in the Extra Care setting (Dutton 2009). In another study, residents 
with dementia were found to maintain their quality of life and stayed almost as long 
those with general needs before exiting Extra Care housing (Vallelly et al 2006)3.

4.3 Extra Care can also benefit residents with mild to moderate dementia with 
research demonstrating they maintain quality of life as long as residents without 
dementia4. Extra Care has also been the source of some of the more innovative 
approaches to dementia care.

5.0 Extra Care and Cost Benefit evidence

5.1 Extra Care also offers cost savings to local authorities as people maintain 
independence and do not require residential care. These cost savings are derived 
from provision of flexible care and procurement efficiencies (providing care on one 
site rather than multiple sites) amongst other factors5. Research shows that each 
year a resident postpones moving into residential care, the State saves on average 
£28,0806 

5.2 A longitudinal study3 from 2002 to 2010 and covering 1400 to 1600 Extra Care 
properties found that Extra Care tenants were less likely to be admitted to hospital 
initially than those in unsupported housing in the community and were more likely to 
be admitted only once a serious condition had developed. The research did find 
Extra Care tenants were more likely to stay longer in hospital if they were admitted – 
which indicates schemes are able to support tenants to a higher level of need with 
hospital admission occurring at point of higher acuity. The study estimated a potential 
cost saving to the NHS from a reduction in hospital admissions of up to £512 per 
person per year.

5.3 Professor Holland’s study found that the NHS costs for those in the study 
sample were reduced by 38% and that the costs for frail residents had reduced by 
51%.2 In addition, local authority costs of providing lower and higher level social care 
were 17.8% (£1,222) and 26% (£4,556) lower respectively on average per person 
per year.

6.0 Extra Care – Policy

6.1 In the recent Funding Supported Housing: Policy Statement and Consultation 
paper (Oct 2017) published by the Department for Communities and Local 
Government and the Department for Work and Pensions, the government sets out a 
renew commitment to support the provision of Extra Care. The report recognises that 
Extra Care housing is a home to hundreds of thousands of vulnerable people across 
the country and that their safety and quality of life is paramount. The report confirms 
that Extra Care supports people to live independently for longer, ensuring more 
fulfilling lives for their residents, and brings wider savings to other public services, in 
particular to NHS and social care budgets. Reports have suggested that the net 
benefit of providing capital investment in supported housing for older people is £219 

Page 65



6

million, with most of the benefits coming from preventing costly hospital stays or 
residential care.7 

6.2 Seventy one percent of all supported housing is sheltered and Extra Care 
housing units, and the majority of tenants are older people.8 Projections suggest the 
numbers of supported homes for older people may need to increase from 460,000 to 
625,000 by 2030 (a 35% increase).9 It is therefore vital that the future supply of Extra 
Care housing is secure to continue protecting these groups of people. 

6.3 The Funding Supported Housing: Policy Statement and Consultation paper 
also sets out a requirement for local authorities to work with other local partners 
(including tenants or representatives) to produce a local strategic plan for supported 
housing, and to undertake an assessment of provision and need for all supported 
housing groups. 

6.4 The recently publish paper (February 2018) Housing For Older People 
commissioned by the Communities and Local Government Committee recognises 
that “Accessible and specialist homes are a key to housing an ageing population. 
Specialist housing, particularly Extra Care housing, can promote the health and well-
being of older people and their carers”.

6.5 The report also referenced ministerial comment about the proposed Sheltered 
Rent (for supported housing) with the Minister stating that he was “confident” that the 
sheltered rent would “reflect the true cost of providing sheltered and Extra Care 
housing across the country but also looks to reflect what the future cost will be”. 

6.6 The report cites projections for a future shortfall of Extra Care housing 
calculated by the Housing LIN reaching 75,000 extra units by 2035 in England which 
equates to shortfall of 245 units for Salford. Note – the Housing LIN calculation also 
assumes a net increase in the supply of care home beds across England of 200,000 
beds or 700 for Salford. 

6.7 The Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership has recognised 
Extra Care as being a strategic driver for developing new models of care. Extra Care 
development has been agreed as a strategic priority for Greater Manchester 
Directors of Adult Social Services. A strategic approach and a working group to 
support the development of Extra Care across localities has been established and 
Salford is part of this working group.

7.0 Extra Care - Local Strategy

7.1 Salford City Council’s Housing Strategy 
(https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/388491/shaping-housing-in-salford-2020-a-
housing-strategy-for-salford.pdf) recognises the need to develop housing solutions 
for vulnerable people who have additional needs living in Salford. The strategy 
states:

“Salford has an increasing ageing population therefore more people will 
need to be supported to live independently for as long as possible. As 

Page 66

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/388491/shaping-housing-in-salford-2020-a-housing-strategy-for-salford.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/388491/shaping-housing-in-salford-2020-a-housing-strategy-for-salford.pdf


7

well as promoting independent living there is also a recognised need for 
specialised housing that has both design and support features that are 
able to flexibly meet the very specific needs of an increasingly frail 
population in Salford.”

7.2 Extra Care Housing is an excellent example of specialised housing for 
particularly frail people or people as they age. New build schemes in particular can 
be designed and planned in a way that contributes to the provision of a good quality 
of life for older/vulnerable people, particularly those who require elements of social 
and nursing care. The standard and management of Extra Care schemes can help to 
ensure that as people age they continue to live dignified lives, remain independent, 
are socially included and receive the care and support they need in their own homes, 
helping to promote continued health and prevent deterioration in existing conditions.

7.3 In order to meet the forecast demand for housing, care and support for 
Salford’s ageing population, Salford acknowledges that it will need to develop more 
Extra Care schemes. Salford has a number of planned Extra Care housing 
developments which incorporate a partnership approach across health, social care, 
housing providers, developers and support/care providers. This collaborative 
approach will ensure that the Extra Care models developed will meet the health and 
social care objectives of the city. However, options will need to be explored which 
help to further enhance the supply of this provision.”

7.4 Salford City Council is in the process of updating the Housing Strategy and the 
new strategy will have a specific section to cover Supported Housing for vulnerable 
people. This will include Extra Care

8.0 Extra Care – Local Supply and service model

8.1 Salford’s Extra Care Housing supply has grown steadily over the last 20 years. 
Initial developments focussed on converting traditional sheltered housing stock into 
Extra Care – Ninian Gardens (Walkden), Monica Court (Monton) and Astley Court 
(Irlam) and Mount Carmel Court (Ordsall). These conversions created an Extra Care 
supply of 193 units for the people of Salford. In 2009 Moores House (Claremont) 
opened as Salford’s first purpose-built Extra Care scheme and this was followed by 
Amblecote Gardens (Little Hulton) in 2015. Soon after Ninian Garden was 
demolished and replaced in 2016 by Bourke Gardens (Walden). These additions 
brought Salford’s Extra Care supply to 311 units.

Table 1 - Current Extra Care Schemes In Salford
Scheme Model Landlord Care Provider Units
Monica 
Court

Sheltered conversion 
to Extra Care

City West Comfort Call 47

Astley Court Sheltered conversion 
to Extra Care

City West Comfort Call 56

Mount 
Carmel

Sheltered conversion 
to Extra Care

St Vincent’s Comfort Call 36

Moores 
House

Purpose built Extra 
Care

Retail Trust Comfort Call 50

Page 67



8

Amblecote Purpose built Extra 
Care

City West Comfort Call 66

Bourke 
Gardens

Purpose built Extra 
Care

City West Care Watch 56

Total 311

8.2 In comparing the supply of Extra Care with other care services that sit on the 
continuum of care (Figure 1) it is evident that the current supply of sheltered housing 
of approximately 3500 is significantly higher than that of Extra Care. However, the 
combined supply of Residential and Nursing Care beds in Salford is over 1500, so 
Salford has 5 times as many Care Home beds as it does Extra Care units. This 
suggests an imbalance in the levels of Extra Care as it could be expected that a 
service supporting higher needs would have a smaller supply than that of a service 
that supports a lower but broader range of need.

Figure 2 – Representative service supply on the continuum of care

8.3 Under current Housing LIN standards for the provision of Extra Care 
accommodation it is reasonable to assert that only the newer Extra Care schemes of 
Moores House, Amblecote Gardens and Bourke Gardens would meet all the current 
building standards for Extra Care. It should therefore be noted that a strategy 
including  replacing the converted sheltered housing Extra Care schemes would have 
net zero impact on the supply of Extra Care units but would have a significant 
investment implication.

8.4 The provision of Extra Care to local people is managed through Adults Social 
Care assessment and care planning, via the ICO. This means that people who live in 
Extra Care schemes in Salford will be allocated their place through Care Act 
processes. This allows the ICO to control admissions into the schemes and ensure 
the national prescribed and locally adopted model of 1/3 High:Medium:Low need is 
maintained.

8.5 The Council maintains responsibility for commissioning the regulated care 
service at each of the schemes and also for commissioning any housing 
management support delivered by the Landlord at the scheme. These commissions 
are managed through the ICO’s supply chain functions under the terms of their 
contract with the Council.

9.0 Population level analysis

Page 68



9

9.1 There is limited local and national information available to guide Local 
Authorities in determining the number of Extra Care units needed to meet the 
demands of the local population. However, the Care Services Improvement 
Partnership (CSIP) document entitled More Choice, Greater Voice: A Toolkit for 
Producing a Strategy for Accommodation with Care for Older People, recommends 
that there should be around 25 Extra Care units per 1000 over 75 population.  

9.2 Using this figure along with current and projected population figures for Salford 
(source POPPI website) it would suggest that in order to meet demand, Salford 
needs 408 units of Extra Care housing in 2017, which is a current shortfall of 97 units 
and 605 units of Extra Care housing by 2035, which would be a projected shortfall of 
294 units.

Table 2 – Salford Population and Extra Care Supply
2017 2020 2025 2030 2035

75+ population 16,300 17,100 19,900 21,500 24,200
Supply per 25 1000 >75yrs 408 428 498 538 605
Current Extra Care supply 311 311 311 311 311
Difference -97 -117 -187 -227 -294

10.0 Extra Care - Local Demand Patterns

10.1 In general demand data indicates a consistent level of both admission (5.6 per 
month) and departures (4 per month) to Extra Care since 2003. The difference in 
admissions and departure rates is explained by the opening of the 4 schemes noted 
on the chart. This data also suggests that the allocation process applied to manage 
demand (placement via ASC assessment) enables Extra Care to operate within a 
level of demand certainty, which generally results in market stability.

Chart 1 – Extra Care Admission and Departures

A. Opening of Astley Court & Ninian 
Gardens
B. Admissions to Shelmerdine Gardens
C. Admissions to Amblecote
D. Opening of Bourke Gardens

Page 69



10

10.2 Admission data since 2015 indicates that 44% of those new tenants of Extra 
Care had an informal carer - which might have been a spouse or a close relative - 
and we also know that 75% of those admitted in this time lived alone. This suggests 
that a significant factor in the allocation of Extra Care for an individually is the loss of 
their informal carer and that Extra Care is a preferred choice for people in those 
circumstances.

10.3 Adults Social Care assessment information over 2016/17 (Chart 2 below) 
indicated that people who are assessed prior to admission to an Extra Care scheme 
tended to have less dependency compared to the cohort of people who were places 
into residential care. For example 73% of people admitted into Extra Care were 
‘unable to achieve’ the task of ‘managing a habitable home’, whereas 95% of people 
admitted to a residential home were ‘unable to achieve’ the task of ‘managing a 
habitable home’. Also, 54% of people admitted into Extra Care were ‘unable to 
achieve’ the task of ‘maintaining nutrition’, whereas 96% of people admitted into 
residential care were ‘unable to achieve’ the task of ‘maintaining nutrition’.

10.4 It is also evident that while the level of need on entering residential care in on 
average higher, there is a cohort of people who are being placed into residential care 
at a comparable dependency level to those people who are place into Extra Care. 
Chart 2 below implies a dependency relationship for the ‘unable to achieve the 
outcome’ category between the Extra Care and Residential Care cohort. This further 
suggests that the availability of Extra Care places in the local market (4 departures 
per month as noted about) places limits on the care choices for people through the 
ASC assessment and care planning process. It is plausible to suggest that a 
significant proportion of people being placed in Residential Care could be supported 
in Extra Case based on the assumptions of dependency level match across the two 
cohorts.

Chart 2 – Extra Care Vs Residential Care, Need on Admission

Page 70



11

10.5  The age profile and need profile for people entering Extra Care is consistent 
with national modelling for Extra Care. Chart 3 below shows the mean entry into 
Extra Care is 81 with a wide range of aged and dependencies. The majority of people 
who live in Extra Care are aged 75-94, but within this age band there is a wide range 
of assessed need.

Chart 3 – Extra Care Age on Entry

10.6 The majority of people who enter Extra Care do so with a physical health need 
(recorded on Care First) followed by Dementia and Stroke. This indicates that a 
significant proportion of people living in Extra Care will have moderate to high levels 
of health needs as well we social care needs. This factor is important when 
considering the health needs provision for future models of Extra Care, particularly in 
the commissioning arrangements for the regulated Care service and potential impact 
of new Extra Care scheme on the developing new models of neighbourhood care.

Chart 4 – Extra Care and Recorded Health Condition on Admission

Page 71



12

10.7 The Housing LIN suggests models of Extra Care should provide 2/3 of tenants 
with ‘homes for life’. Salford data for the last 3 years indicates that only 54% of 
people died while being a tenant in their Extra Care scheme (Chart 5). However only 
18% went on to be admitted to a care home which suggests our local position might 
be closer to the expected national profile, with further analysis of the ‘other reason’ 
coding necessary to create a clearer understanding of departures from the schemes.

Chart 5 – Reason for Leaving Extra Care

10.8 Chart 6 below shows the demand for the provision of Extra Care is equitable 
across the communities of Salford. Further demand analysis shows that people tend 

Page 72



13

to access the Extra Care schemes near to where they lived, for example, 58% of 
people living in Amblecote Gardens in Little Hulton previously lived in either Little 
Hulton, Walkden South or Walkden North and 50% of people living in Astley Court 
previously lived in either Irlam or Cadishead. This is consistent with Housing LIN 
national analysis that shows people move less than 4 miles to live in an Extra Care 
scheme. This suggests that the local connection between people and their preferred 
Extra Care scheme is important when making a choice about entering an Extra Care 
scheme. It also suggest that the demands that any new scheme might place on 
existing neighbourhood infrastructure, for example, GP, pharmacy, dental, VCSE 
sector will be minimal.

Page 73



14

Chart 6 – Address Location Immediately Prior to Entering Extra Care

11.0 Relationship between Residential Care placement and Extra Care

“The right kind of housing can keep people healthy, support them to live 
independently and reduce the need for home care or residential care. The 
social care green paper, planned for publication in summer 2018, must 
consider the range of housing for older people, from mainstream and 
accessible homes to Supported and Extra Care housing, as well as access 
to adaptations and repairs. In particular, the social care green paper should 
consider the role of Extra Care housing in the provision of social care 
alongside domiciliary and residential care.”

Communities and Local Government Committee report, Housing and Older People, February 2018.

11.1 The relationship and interplay between Extra Care and Residential Care has 
gained significant recognition within national policy over recent years. Housing LIN 
continues to promote the benefits of Extra Care as a better alternative to residential 
care and academic research is drawing new conclusions about the positive impact of 
Extra Care on the care system on for people who live in Extra Care.

11.2 A. Kerslake and P. Stilwell, (2004) ‘What makes older people choose 
residential care, and are there alternatives?’ Institute of Public Care, a centre of 
Oxford Brookes University, suggested that 30% of people they surveyed could have 
entered Extra Care rather than residential care. Whilst this research was limited 
(small study cohort) it does support a view that more people could be placed in Extra 
Care.

Page 74



15

11.3 The recently published North West ASC Market Sustainability assessment 
undertaken by Alder Advice suggests that a 20% reduction in the demand for care 
home places by 2021 would be necessary to manage within planned budget 
projection. 

11.4 An analysis of local demand data in Salford suggests there is relationship 
(overlap) between the assessed needs of people entering residential care and Extra 
Care. If we consider the current demand for residential care and match this demand 
against that of Extra Care it is possible to make an estimate of the likely demand for 
Extra Care through displacing residential care demand – that being placing people 
into Extra Care rather than residential care.

11.5 Salford data (Care First) indicates approximately 350 people per year are 
placed into a care home following an assessment. Assuming a range of 20-30% of 
this cohort could have been placed in an Extra Care scheme as a more suitable 
choice of service it would indicate that between 70 and 105 people per year could be 
deflected from residential care into Extra Care should the supply of Extra Care be 
sufficient.

11.6 Local data indicates a departure rate of 4 people per month (48 per year) from 
Salford’s 311 Extra Care units. As a ratio of the supply of Extra Care Units this is 
equal to 0.15 of the total capacity.

11.7 In order to meet an enhanced demand figure of 20% of people who are 
currently placed in residential care (70 people) the Extra Care supply of 311 units 
would need to be increase by 476 to 787 units.

11.8 Based on the largest Extra Care schemes in Salford this increase in units 
would require an additional 7 Extra Care schemes to be developed across the city. 
Since 2003 Salford has delivered 5 Extra Care Schemes of an average size of 55 
units. Given this historical development pattern it could take Salford up to 2030 to 
develop the Extra Care schemes to replace the need for lower dependency 
residential care. Consideration should therefore be given to the development of 
larger Extra Care Scheme across the city. The Housing LIN cites best practice 
examples of Extra Care scheme elsewhere in the UK that are in excess of 100 units 
in size so it is not uncommon for such schemes to be developed and operate 
successfully.

12.0 Extra Care Expansion to Meet Population Changes

12.1 Section 9 indicates that Salford needs 408 units of Extra Care housing in 
2017, which is a current shortfall of 97 units and 605 units of Extra Care housing by 
2035, which would be a projected shortfall of 294 units. This figure could be seen as 
the minimum expected level of provision of Extra Care for Salford.

12.2 In order to meet minimum expected level now an additional 100 unit Extra 
Care scheme would need to be built within the next two years, with a further two 100 
unit Extra Care schemes by 2035.

Page 75



16

12.3 Clearly adopting this approach would not respond to the demand 
displacement potential from Residential Care and would likely result in the need to 
expand the supply of Residential Care in Salford. Section 6.6 proposes an additional 
700 care home beds might be needed in Salford by 2035 to meet population 
demands. Salford’s average care home size is approximately 50 beds with the 
largest being 121, this suggests 8-10 care homes might need to be developed by 
2035.

13.0 Financial Assessment of Extra Care and a comparison to Residential 
Care

13.1 Current model of Extra Care - Care Costs

13.2 Based upon the current model of Extra Care a “typical” scheme could be 
described as a 60 bed unit providing support to people of high, medium and low need 
on an equal ratio. The level of support required based upon this assessment of need 
is deemed to be 9 hours per week for service user with high need, 5.25 hours per 
week for service users with medium need and 1.5 hours per week for service users 
with low need.  

13.3 The costs of care in relation to the Extra Care model described above are as 
follows:
Table 3 – current Extra Care ‘care’ costs

Level of Support
No of Service 
Users

Hours per Service 
User per Week

Hourly Cost (per 
service user)

Weekly Cost (per 
service user)

Annual Cost (per 
service user) Total Annual Cost

High 20 9 £13.62 £122.58 £6,391.67 £127,833
Medium 20 5.25 £13.62 £71.51 £3,728.48 £74,570
Low 20 1.5 £13.62 £20.43 £1,065.28 £21,306
Total 60 £223,709

13.4 This model assumes all care costs are met by Adult Social Care budgets and 
does not take into account any client contributions which are considered below.

13.5 Current model of Extra Care - Other Costs

13.6 In addition to the costs of care, payments are due to Extra Care landlords for 
Rent, Service Charges and Catering Provision and these costs are met either directly 
by the service user or through Housing Benefits. Charges for rent and the service 
charge element are divided into Housing Benefit eligible and Housing Benefit 
ineligible charges.  Eligible charges are recovered from Central Government by 
Salford City Council and ineligible charges are paid directly by the tenant. 

13.7 A typical breakdown of rent and service charges are shown below:
Table 4 – current Extra Care ‘non-care’ costs

Page 76



17

Description
Weekly Cost - 
1 bed unit

Weekly Cost - 
2 bed unit

LAHRA Basic Rent £114.18 £135.70
LAHRA Heating Charge £0.60 £0.60
LAHRA Service Charge £38.02 £38.02
Management Charge £3.65 £3.65
Additional Housing Element £13.96 £13.96
AHM Management Charge £1.92 £1.92
Total - Eligible Charges £172.33 £193.85
Management Charge £0.09 £0.09
Additional Housing Element £6.60 £6.60
AHM Management Charge £0.99 £0.99
Total - Ineligible Charges £7.68 £7.68
Total Charges £180.01 £201.53

13.8 This model assumes the landlord is a housing association and the rent and 
service charges have been assessed by Salford City Council Housing Benefit team 
and are considered to be reasonable. If the landlord is a private landlord or the 
proposed rent charge is deemed excessive it is likely the level of rent that Salford 
City Council would be able to recover would be determined by referral to the rent 
office and any rent charged by the landlord in excess of this amount would represent 
a cost to the Council as we would not be able to recover from Central Government.   

13.9 Client Contributions

13.10 The table below considers the financial contribution that a service user might 
make towards the cost of their care. 

Table 5 – Service user financial contributions - Extra Care Vs Residential Care

Residential Care
Non Residential 
Care (ECSH) Comments

Client income £159.35 £277.45
less: Personal Allowance / Protected Income -£24.90 -£189.00
Maximum Client Contribution £134.45 £88.45
less: Disability Related Spending £0.00 -£20.00
Average client contribution £134.45 £61.00 90% rounded to nearest £ for ECSH

13.11 Contributions have been modelled based upon the service user being a single 
person whose income is at pension credit level who has been assessed as having 
high dependency. This can be considered typical but the contribution is means tested 
based on an individual’s circumstances so does vary and would alter any financial 
comparison between residential and non-residential care settings. It is also assumed 
that service users living in a non-residential setting would have additional income 
from disability benefits or would be supported by Salford City Council’s charging 
assessment team to claim them. The maximum contribution for non-residential care 
is reduced by any disability related spending incurred by a service user which is 
difficult to quantify and on average is in the region of £20 per week.

13.12 It should be noted for Extra Care, maximum service user contributions are 
capped at the following levels:

High Dependency £106.14
Medium Dependency £15.92
Low Dependency £0.00

Page 77



18

13.13 Please also note that for non-residential care there is no upper capital limit 
whereby a client is considered able to fund the full cost of their care as is the case in 
residential settings. People in residential care with savings in excess of £23,250 who 
currently fund the full cost of their place may, if transferred to a non-residential 
setting, qualify for a subsidy.   

13.14 Comparison of Extra Care to Residential Care

13.15 As detailed in this report it is suggested that there are a cohort of people who 
would benefit from their care needs being met through Extra Care rather than 
through residential care. The costs comparison  between Extra Care schemes and 
residential care is difficult for a number of reasons including differences between 
where costs are picked up within the system i.e. in adults social care budget or by 
central government budgets or directly by the service users. It is also difficult to 
model the financial contribution that a service user might be asked to make towards 
their package of care.

13.16 The table below sets out a comparison of 2017/18 rates for Extra Care and 
Salford’s standard rate for older people in Residential Care regardless of how / where 
the costs is met within the system.
Table 6 – Service costs - Extra Care Vs Residential Care
Description Residential Care ECSH (High - 9 Hours)
Care Costs £278.04 £122.58
Hotel Costs £140.53 £180.01
Food Costs £23.50 £51.33
Gross Total £442.07 £353.92
less: Client Contribution -£134.45 -£61.00
Net Total £307.62 £292.92

13.17 The £307.62 net cost of residential care is a cost to the adult social care 
system, however for Extra Care only the care component is met through adult social 
care budget. The hotel costs and food costs are either paid directly by the service 
user or met through housing benefits which is recoverable from central government. 

13.18 A revised cost comparison showing costs that are met within adult social care 
budgets is set out below.

Table 7 – Adult Social Care budget costs - Extra Care Vs Residential Care
Description Residential Care ECSH (High - 9 Hours)
Care Costs £278.04 £122.58
Hotel Costs £140.53 £0.00
Food Costs £23.50 £0.00
Gross Total £442.07 £122.58
less: Client Contribution -£134.45 -£61.00
Net Total £307.62 £61.58

Page 78



19

13.19 This would suggest that costs in the region of £246 p/w per service user could 
be avoided through care needs being met through Extra Care rather than by 
residential care. 

13.20 A model for Extra Care in the future?

13.21 It is likely that service users who could be supported by Extra Care rather than 
in a residential setting would have a higher level of need and might require more than 
the 9 hours support than in the current model. A revised model of care could be 
developed to allow service users who are currently or would have been supported in 
a residential setting to be supported in Extra Care. For illustrative purposes only the 
model below shows a revised Extra Care scheme where 40 service users who would 
have been supported in residential care are supported through Extra Care, being 
assessed as high dependency, receiving 19.4 hours of care (the average hours of 
care per week per service users assumed in the Salford’s standard rate for older 
people in Residential Care), this is then compared to the cost of supporting these 
service users in residential care. If this principle is to be taken forward the actual 
model would need to be developed to determine the offer that would be required to 
enable service users to transition from being supported in residential care setting to 
an Extra Care setting.

Table 8 – 60 Bed model cost comparison - Extra Care Vs Residential Care
No of Service 
Users

Hours per Service 
User per Week Level of Support

Hourly (per 
service user)

Weekly (per 
service user)

Annual (per 
service user) Total Annual

Hourly (per 
service user)

Weekly (per 
service user)

Annual (per 
service user) Total Annual

40 19.4 High £13.62 £264.23 £13,778 £551,104 £22.79 £442.07 £23,051 £922,032
20 1.5 Low £13.62 £20.43 £1,065 £21,306 £0.00 £0.00 £0 £0
60 Total Gross Cost £572,410 £922,032

40 19.4 High -£3.14 -£61.00 -£3,181 -£127,229 -£6.93 -£134.45 -£7,011 -£280,424
20 1.5 Low £0.00 £0.00 £0 £0 £0.00 £0.00 £0 £0
60 Total Client Contribution -£127,229 -£280,424

40 19.4 High £10.48 £203.23 £10,597 £423,876 £15.86 £307.62 £16,040 £641,607
20 1.5 Low £13.62 £20.43 £1,065 £21,306 £0.00 £0.00 £0 £0
60 Total Net Cost £445,181 £641,607

Client Contribution

Net Cost

Residential CareECSH

Gross Cost

13.22 The model again illustrates the potential cost avoidance of this approach with 
net costs avoided in the region of £196K, however it should be noted that actual 
costs avoided will be different as client income will vary from the amounts included 
for both Residential and Extra Care, the level of costs avoided will also be dependent 
on the makeup of the offer for Extra Care. Client contributions for Extra Care have 
also been modelled based on the 40 user being assessed as high dependency, if any 
of these service users were classed as medium dependency the maximum client 
contribution would be capped at £15.92 per week increasing the net cost of the 
scheme.

13.23 The government has recently consulted on funding for supported housing. The 
extract below from the consultation documentation summarises the proposal in 
relation to Extra Care Housing

13.24 A ‘Sheltered Rent’ – for those in sheltered and Extra Care housing
 For sheltered and Extra Care housing, often for older people but also including 

working-age tenants.
 Introducing a ‘Sheltered Rent’, a type of social rent, which keeps funding for 

sheltered and Extra Care housing in the welfare system.

Page 79



20

 Better cost control, as the social housing regulator will use existing powers to 
regulate gross eligible rent (rent inclusive of eligible service charges) charged 
by registered providers. We are seeking views on the appropriate level to set 
gross eligible rent at through our consultation.

 This model will come in to effect from 2020.
 This will provide the certainty providers need in order to invest in future supply, 

whilst providing enhanced cost controls and ensuring value for money for the 
taxpayer, and good outcomes for tenants

13.25 Full details can be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/65602
7/Funding_supported_housing_-_policy_statement_and_consultation.pdf 

13.26 The full impact of any changes as a result of this consultation will need to be 
reviewed when confirmed as they could potentially impact on the assumptions used 
in the modelling around the rent and services charges and the amount recoverable 
through housing benefit subsidy.  

14.0 Building Extra Care

14.1 Extra Care developments are generally brokered through a partnership 
arrangements between a commissioner (often a Local Authority) and a Registered 
Social Landlord (RSL). Some developments are undertaken independently by private 
housing developers for direct sale, but these tend to be in more affluent areas.

14.2 The scale of capital investment to develop Extra Care Housing has been set 
out by the Housing LIN. They have developed an indicative cost model for the 
development of a modern Extra Care scheme based on a typical three-storey, 
traditional construction, Extra Care facility in the north of England. The development 
comprises 77 one and two bedroom apartments covering a gross internal area (GIA) 
of 6,855 m2. Costs exclude site works and relate to 1st quarter 2015. This model 
suggest a development cost of £7.85m or £1,145 per square meter.

14.3 Extra Care capital builds are generally funded by the RSL under a mortgage 
arrangement and often with the support of a Government Grant, for example, the 
Homes and Communities Agency: Care and Support Specialised Housing Fund 2015 
– these grant fund approximately 20-30% of the development cost. The Local 
Authority will often support developments through site assembly and in the planning 
application process. 

14.4 The RSL would then seek to make a return on the revenue (rental) income of 
the property to fund the mortgage repayments. Under this mechanism it is important 
that the Local Authority and the RSL understands the financial arrangements, the 
level of risk and the mechanism through which the financial risk is managed.

14.5 In areas where the Local Authority will be the sole purchaser of Extra Care 
places (as in Salford), the Local Authority will need to understand the impact of any 
scheme development on Housing Benefit payments and budgets (see Section 13).

Page 80

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656027/Funding_supported_housing_-_policy_statement_and_consultation.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656027/Funding_supported_housing_-_policy_statement_and_consultation.pdf


21

14.6 Salford City Council has had recent successes in developing two bespoke 
Extra Care schemes in partnership with City West Housing, which shows the 
potential to development modern, affordable Extra Care. These scheme were 
developed under the approach outlined above.

14.7 Salford City Council has the potential to develop further partnerships across 
Strategic Spatial Planning, Strategic Housing, ASC Strategic Commissioning, Salford 
Clinical Commissioning Group, the Integrated Care Organisation, Registered Social 
Landlords and Care Providers to develop a growth strategy for Extra Care in Salford.

15.0 Development Planning 

15.01 The timescales associated with a scale-up programme of Extra Care will run 
over a number of years. It takes at least one year to plan an Extra Care building, 
which includes securing the site, securing the developer, agreeing the finances, 
concluding planning permissions and establishing the build programme including 
contracts. It takes at least two years to build and establish an Extra Care service and 
this includes the process for securing the Extra Care regulated care provider and the 
move-in process for tenants. At present that are no pipeline Extra Care schemes in 
Salford so we are at least 3 years from delivering any new operational Extra Care 
scheme.

15.02 Work has started with Urban Vision to identify potential sites (see Appendix 1), 
based on the Housing LIN criteria for Extra Care. There are areas of the city well-
served with purpose built Extra Care schemes in Little Hulton, Walkden and 
Claremont (Irlams o’ the Height) and some areas that are supported with Extra Care 
converted from Sheltered accommodation in Irlam/Cadishead*, Ordsall and  
Monton/Winton. There are areas of Salford that are not in close proximity or close in 
terms of community boundaries to Extra Care – those being:

 Lower/Higher/Broughton
 Kersal
 Swinton/Pendlebury
 Worsley/Winton
 Barton/Patricroft
 Boothstown/Ellenbrook
 Landworthy/Seedley/Salford Precinct
 Kersal
 Irwell Riverside
 *Irlam/Cadishead – included as the size of the current Extra Care 

scheme at Astley Court is small for the combined populations of Irlam 
and Cadishead

These areas have been grouped into 6 Extra Care development zones in Appendix 
1.

Page 81



22

15.03 There are a number of current risks and opportunities for consideration that 
will influence the approach to the development of Extra Care.

15.04 Salix Homes has adopted a strategic development approach to Extra Care 
and following recent discussions through the Strategic Housing Partnership have 
engaged in exploratory conversations with Commissioners on two potential 
development opportunities.

15.05 Arrow Street in Lower Broughton (see Appendix 1 reference ii) is a vacant site 
owned by Salix Homes. They have undertaken a desk-top appraisal of this site and 
have shared initial proposals to Commissioners for a 70 bedded Extra Care scheme. 
They have approached Homes England who have indicated support in principal to 
this proposal and that it would fit their funding criteria. Salix Homes has indicated a 
grant level of up to 50% might be available. The site is situation within the flood zone 
and therefore ground floor living accommodation would cost prohibitive due to 
additional site or construction measures that would be necessary. The Salix proposal 
does not include ground floor living accommodation and consequently they would 
there need to secure additional usage of this space alongside the provision of space 
for Extra Care services. This scheme proposal it situated within an Extra Care 
Development Zone (as described in Appendix 1)

15.06 Salix Homes are leading a RSL consortium bid for the University of Salford 
owned Castle Irwell site (see Appendix 1 reference i). The proposal is based on an 
‘elder-village’ model and includes a range of accommodation types including a 120 
unit Extra Care Scheme. It is anticipated the outcome of the consortium bid will be 
known around the summer of 2019. This scheme proposal is situated within an Extra 
Care Development Zone (as described in Appendix 1)

15.07 City West Housing Trust has recently indicated to SCC of their intention to 
decommissioning Monica Court and Astley Court Extra Care Schemes. A meeting 
has taken place with SCC, SCO and City West. City West provided assurance that 
their decommissioning plans would be development alongside strategic plans to 
scale-up Extra Care in Salford and would not compromise current tenures and 
regulated care services delivered at the schemes. City West expressed a willingness 
to work with strategic partners in developing new Extra Care Schemes.

15.08 The current assessment of supply and potential site development suggests a 
number of communities in Salford could benefit from an Extra Care Scheme 
development to create a more ‘equitable’ offer and choice for people. The model and 
scale of these potential developments would match the Extra Care market 
assessment for the expansion of Extra Care.

15.09 The table below suggests an approach to and scale of Extra Care scheme 
development across Salford:

Table 9 – Extra Care Development Options
Location - Zone Driver Extra Care Risk/Opportunity Status Site 

Page 82



23

Consideration
1 – Boothstown 
and Ellenbrook

Lack of 
provision

Circa 60 
units

Limited site availability, costly – 
potential private development

Site Scoping TBC

2 – Worsley/ 
Winton

Lack of 
provision

Circa 60 
units

Limited site availability, costly – 
potential private development

Site Scoping TBC

3 – Barton/ 
Patricroft

Lack of 
provision

Circa 60 
units

Alternative site potential – 
potential SCC led development

Site Scoping Eccles Town 
Centre

4 – Swinton/ 
Pendlebury

Lack of 
provision

Circa 100 
units

Alternative site potential  – 
potential SCC led development

Site Scoping The Limes

5 – Langworthy/ 
Seedley/ Salford 
Precinct

Lack of 
provision

Circa 60 
units

Alternative site potential – 
potential SCC led development l

Site Scoping Kara Street

6 – Broughton/ 
Kersal

Lack of 
provision

Circa 200 
units

Alternative site potential – RLS 
led development

RSL 
Assessment

Arrow Street 
Castle Irwell

Total 540
Monica Court 
replacement

Stock 
upgrade

Circa 60 
units

City West closure intention. 
Alternative site potential

Site Scoping Wentworth High

Astley Court 
replacement

Stock 
upgrade

Circa 100 
units

City West closure intention. 
Alternative site potential

Site Scoping Council Offices

Mount Carmel 
Court 
replacement

Stock 
upgrade

Circa 60 
units

Alternative site potential  – 
potential SCC led development

Site Scoping Robert Hall 
Street/ Phoebe 
Street

Total 760

15.10 Through the Strategic Housing Partnership Group a request has been made 
by commissioners to RSLs to consider the Council’s Extra Care Positions Statement 
and assess/identify whether the RSLs have any suitable sites in Salford that could be 
assessed for Extra Care development. This has led to two potential sites being 
suggested (15.05 and 15.06) and initial discussions have taken place. It will be 
necessary to make further requests to RSLs to encourage them to consider Extra 
Care as a strategic priority/opportunity for development. Initial progress is 
encouraging but further relationship management is needed to understand what sites 
might available/suitable.

15.11 Place based development through strategic regeneration is progressing via 
the development of the new Housing Strategy. The scale-up of Extra Care is included 
in the draft Housing Strategy. Initial discussions about options for aligning Extra Care 
Scheme development with Town Centre planning have taken place and these 
development zones are included in Appendix 1.

15.12 Commissioners are continually assessing opportunities to secure pipeline 
development sites resulting from service redesign/market shaping processes. This 
includes the opportunity arising from development of the new Intermediate Care Unit 
and the subsequent release of The Limes site.

15.13 Recent communication from Homes England (via their regional office) 
indicates that Extra Care developments will be viewed favourably for grant 
applications by developers. A local RSL has reported that for one of their early 

Page 83



24

pipeline schemes a 50% grant level has been indicated. This makes it financially 
attractive for developers through this round of Homes England funding. It is also 
likely that the bidding process will become competitive at grant levels of 50%.

15.14 The Head of Housing Strategy, SCC has confirmed that this team will provide 
support the strategic relationship management with Homes England.

15.15 There is an emerging opportunity to work alongside Salix Homes through their 
outline proposal for the Arrow Street Development. An initial meeting with Salix, 
Salford Care Organisation and the Council has taken place to set out the 
requirements and scope of a financial appraisal of the proposal. This includes:

 Development Costs - Salix
 Income – rental and other – SCC and Salix
 Care Cost – SCO and SCC

The Care Cost analysis will be linked to a Best Value programme with Salford 
CCG and expand upon the desk top ‘cost benefit’ appraisal undertaken in the 
Extra Care Position Statement

15.16 There are two principles (likely) routes for development of an Extra Care 
building. Firstly, a non-statutory agency (generally a Registered Social Landlord - 
RSL) will identify a development opportunity on land that it owns/leases and will take 
the lead role in delivering the capital scheme. SCC Housing Strategy will provide 
strategic relationship management with the RSL sector to identify development 
potential/opportunities, including a specific assessment of sheltered accommodation.

15.17 Secondly, a statutory partner (generally the LA) will identify land that it owns 
and offer this up for development. Generally in Salford the Council has not routinely 
undertaken capital development, however since the establishment of Dérive the 
Council has taken a new position on the development of housing. As Dérive is 
relatively new it would be likely that any immediate development opportunity would 
be offered to a RSL through a competitive process.

15.18 The Council would remain responsible for the strategic commissioning of any 
regulated care service delivered at an Extra Care scheme. The procurement of any 
such service would be undertaken by Salford Care Organisation. These 
arrangements are now embedded within contractual relationship between the 
Council/CCG and SRFT. There is a current Commissioner-led review of Regulated 
Care delivered at the Extra Care Schemes in Salford that will deliver a new model 
and service specification.

15.19 Through the provision of Enhanced Housing Benefit the Council funds the 
RSL to provide housing related support to the Extra Care tenants as part of their 
tenancy agreement. This function is undertaken by the Housing Benefit team in the 
Council and is carried out on a scheme by scheme basis

Page 84



25

15.20 The process for identifying/matching individuals and their need to Extra Care 
is brokered through an Adult Social Care assessment alongside housing functions to 
establish a tenancy. This key aspect of the Extra Care system will be reviewed or 
order to ensure the assessment/tenancy system matches the planned scale-up of 
Extra Care.

15.21 The table below represents at current assessment of risk for the actions 
associated with Extra Care development. The key areas of increase risk are 
associated with the capital development. Should partners wish to progress a scale-up 
of Extra Care it is like that additional resource, to that with is currently available to 
strategic commissioners, is made available for this purpose.

Table 10 – 60 Extra Care Development – Planning Risk Rating

 

Aspect Knowledge Expertise Capacity Progress Overall
Strategy
Site Identification
Capital Funding
Revenue Funding
Capital Development RSL
Capital Development SCC
Regulated Care
Housing
Pathways
Monitoring/Quality

16.0 Key Partners

 Salford City Council
 Salford CCG
 Registered Social Landlords
 Urban Vision
 Housing Strategy/Regeneration
 Finance GM H&SC Partnership
 NW ADASS
 Homes England
 Salford Care Organisation

17.0 Resource implications

17.01 Capital: There are significant capital resources to deliver and Extra Care 
building, typically £10m for an 80-100 bedded unit.

Page 85



26

17.02 Rental Revenue: An increase in Extra Care will result in additional rental 
costs. Housing Benefit regulation means Council are about to draw down additional 
funding for each new tenancy that requires Housing Benefit

17.03 Care Revenue: There will be an increase in the Extra Care regulated care 
costs through the expanse of Extra Care provision and an association reduction in 
Residential Care costs.

17.04 Development Support Costs: The extent of development support costs is not 
yet know and depends on the nature and time scales for the capital development 
programme. For example, should all developments be delivered by RSL as land 
owners then the development capacity will be provided by the RSL, however, if 
schemes are developed on Council land there would need to be an agreed 
development process through which sites were allocated for development. This 
approach would require design and implementation support and capacity.

18.0 Risks and mitigation

18.01 Strategic direction: The Extra Care Position Statement has provided strategic 
direction and agreement to progress to development.

18.02 Land: Commissioners have begun to identify potential sites, working with both 
RSLs and Urban Vision (regarding Council land).

18.03 Care Cost Benefit Appraisal: SCC and SCO finance will need to work together 
to create a local Care Cost Benefit Appraisal with the opportunity to do this for the 
Arrow Street proposal.

18.04 Development support: This report his highlighted a potential deficit in the level 
of capital development support required.

18.05 Commissioners and SCO are currently reviewing the Regulated Care Service 
and Housing Management Support Service delivered in Salford Extra Care. This will 
result in a new model with a new service specification that can be applied to future 
Extra Care Schemes.

19.0 Governance and project management oversight

19.01 The Adult Social Care Commissioning group will hold responsibility for 
oversight of the programme of work.

19.02 A working group has been established to undertake initial scoping. The group 
will need to extend it scope as the work moves into a developmental phase.

20.0 Next steps

20.01 To take this report through Partnership and Commissioning Governance.

Page 86



27

20.02 To develop the Cost of Care Modelling for the Arrow Street proposal.

20.03 To move into a development programme and to secure additional capacity to 
support this.

Page 87



28

CONTACT OFFICER: Paul Walsh TEL NO: 0161 212 4844 

Page 88



29

Appendix 1 – Current Extra Care Sites and Potential Extra Care Site Locations

    Potential Salix Opportunity – i = Castle Irwell Site Bid – ii – Arrow Street proposition
A = Amblecote (PB), B = Bourke Gardens (PB),  C = Monica Court, D = Moores House (PB), E = Mount Carmel Court, F = Astley Court
PB = Purpose Built
SCC potential development sites SCC development zones Extra Care development zone

A

B

C D

E

F

i

ii

1 2
4

3 5
6

P
age 89



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

ARROW STREET SALIX HOMES

ARROW STREET
PRE-APP UPDATED INFORMATION

PRODUCED BY 

ON BEHALF OF 

SALIX HOMES

P
age 91



2

ARROW STREET SALIX HOMES

THE SITE

P
age 92



3

ARROW STREET SALIX HOMES

5 
STOREY

LACK OF VISIBILITY

BACKS

PEDESTRIAN 
ACCESS

PEDESTRIAN 
ACCESS

PEDESTRIAN 
ACCESS

BACKS
BACKS

PREVAILING 
WIND

ROUTE

PLEASANT 
GREEN 
SPACEBA

C
KS

BA
C

KS

BA
C

KS
 F

A
C

IN
G

 S
TR

EE
T

MATURE TREES

2 
ST

O
RE

Y

2 
ST

O
RE

Y 
PR

IV
A

TE
 H

O
US

IN
G

N
UR

SI
N

G
 H

O
M

E
CHURCH

N
O

 A
C

C
ES

S 
TO

 C
O

M
M

UN
A

L S
PA

C
E

C
UL

 D
E 

SA
C

C
UL

 D
E 

SA
C

3 
ST

O
RE

Y 
A

PA
RT

M
EN

TS

5 
STOREY

G
RE

A
T 

C
LO

W
ES

 S
TR

EE
T

BROUGHTON LANE

CHORAL GROVE

TENERIFFE STREET

A
RR

O
W

 S
TR

EE
T

CHOIR STREET

TRAFALGAR STREET

4

8

8

8

8

8

8

N

UNDER-USED INDUSTRIAL SITE
8

INDUSTRIAL SITE

INDUSTRIAL SITE

WELL 
ENCLOSED 
AMENITY

COMMERCIAL UNITS

44

12 NOON

10 AM

UNDER-USED POOR 
QUALITY LANDSCAPE

FORMER MELBOURNE STREET NO 
LONGER CONNECTED

8

8

8

PO
O

RL
Y 

DE
FI

N
ED

 S
TR

EE
T E

DG
E

PO
O

RL
Y 

DE
FI

N
ED

 S
TR

EE
T E

DG
E 

  8

4

4
W

EL
L 

DE
FI

N
ED

 S
TR

EE
T E

DG
E

W
EL

L 
DE

FI
N

ED
 

ST
RE

ET
 E

DG
E

PO
O

RL
Y 

DE
FI

N
ED

 S
TR

EE
T E

DG
E

88

2 PM

8 AM4 PM

POOR 
QUALITY

SITE ANALYSIS

P
age 93



4

ARROW STREET SALIX HOMES

5 
STOREY

EAVES 
HEIGHT 
7730MM

PROPOSED 
EAVES HEIGHT 
7960MM

EAVES 
HEIGHT 
8250MM

2 
ST

O
RE

Y

2 
ST

O
RE

Y

2 STOREY

3 
ST

O
RE

Y 
W

ITH
 

M
A

N
SA

RD

2 
ST

O
RE

Y 
PR

IV
A

TE
 H

O
US

IN
G

3 
ST

O
RE

Y 
A

PA
RT

M
EN

TS

5 
STOREY

G
RE

A
T 

C
LO

W
ES

 S
TR

EE
T

BROUGHTON LANE

CHORAL GROVE

TENERIFFE STREET

A
RR

O
W

 S
TR

EE
T

CHOIR STREET

TRAFALGAR STREET
8

8

8

N

EXISTING BUILDING HEIGHT STUDY

Contextual 3 storey plus blocks highlighted.

P
age 94



5

ARROW STREET SALIX HOMES

LAYOUTS

P
age 95



6

ARROW STREET SALIX HOMES

PROJECT

DRAWING

DATE

JOB NO.

DRAWN BY

DWG.NO.

SCALE

+44(0)161 832 3242 / info@omiarchitects.com / www.omiarchitects.com
31Blackfriars Road, Salford, Manchester, M3 7AQ

1382

SEP 19

LEVEL 00 PLAN

ARROW ST - SALIX HOMES

1:500RP

L1000

T
R

A
F

A
L
G

A
R

 G
R

O
V

E

2

9

10

1
9

2
0

1

A
RRO

W
 STREETTRA

FA
LG

A
R G

RO
VE

TENERIFE STREET

BR
A

M
LE

Y 
ST

RE
ET

CHORAL GROVE

CAFE

KITCHEN

BUGGY 
STORE

HAIR

STAFF

RECEPTION

WC

RECYCLING

INCOMING SERVICES

LOUNGE 
AND SNUG

STORE

BREAK OUT

BREAK OUT

MORNING 
TERRACE

ENTRANCE B

ENTRANCE A

GYM AND 
YOGA

PLANT

LAUNDRY

HOBBY

POOL

WAITING

1- BED APT

1- BED APT

1- BED APT

1- BED APT

1-BED APT

1-BED APT

2-BED APT
2-BED APT

2-BED APT

ACCESSIBLE 
1- BED APT

GUEST
1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
COTTAGE 
FLAT

1- BED 
COTTAGE 
FLAT

1- BED 
COTTAGE 
FLAT

1- BED 
COTTAGE 
FLAT

1- BED 
COTTAGE 
FLAT

1- BED 
COTTAGE 
FLAT

BLOCK A

BLOCK B

BLOCK C

SEPERATION +3.0m

P
age 96



7

ARROW STREET SALIX HOMES

PROJECT

DRAWING

DATE

JOB NO.

DRAWN BY

DWG.NO.

SCALE

+44(0)161 832 3242 / info@omiarchitects.com / www.omiarchitects.com
31Blackfriars Road, Salford, Manchester, M3 7AQ

1382

SEP 19

LEVEL 01 PLAN

ARROW ST - SALIX HOMES

1:500RP

L1001

T
R

A
F

A
L
G

A
R

 G
R

O
V

E

2

9

10

1
9

2
0

1

A
RRO

W
 STREETTRA

FA
LG

A
R G

RO
VE

TENERIFE STREET

BR
A

M
LE

Y 
ST

RE
ET

CHORAL GROVE

BREAK OUT

2-BED APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT 1- BED 

APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

BREAK OUT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

2- BED 
APT

2- BED 
APT

2- BED 
APT

ACCESSIBLE 
1- BED APT

2- BED 
APT

2- BED 
APT

2- BED 
APT

2- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

ACCESSIBLE 
1- BED APT

1- BED 
COTTAGE 
FLAT

1- BED 
COTTAGE 
FLAT

1- BED 
COTTAGE 
FLAT

1- BED 
COTTAGE 
FLAT

1- BED 
COTTAGE 
FLAT

1- BED 
COTTAGE 
FLAT

BREAK OUT

BLOCK A
BLOCK B

BLOCK C
SEPERATION 13m

SEPERATION 13m

SEPERATION 13m

SEPERATION 13m

P
age 97



8

ARROW STREET SALIX HOMES

PROJECT

DRAWING

DATE

JOB NO.

DRAWN BY

DWG.NO.

SCALE

+44(0)161 832 3242 / info@omiarchitects.com / www.omiarchitects.com
31Blackfriars Road, Salford, Manchester, M3 7AQ

1382

SEP 19

LEVEL 02 PLAN

ARROW ST - SALIX HOMES

1:500RP

L1002

T
R

A
F

A
L
G

A
R

 G
R

O
V

E

2

9

10

1
9

2
0

1

A
RRO

W
 STREETTRA

FA
LG

A
R G

RO
VE

TENERIFE STREET

BR
A

M
LE

Y 
ST

RE
ET

CHORAL GROVE

BREAK OUT
1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT 1- BED 

APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

BREAK OUT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

2- BED 
APT

2- BED 
APT

2- BED 
APT

ACCESSIBLE 
1- BED APT

2- BED 
APT

2- BED 
APT

2- BED 
APT

2- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

1- BED 
APT

ACCESSIBLE 
1- BED APT

1- BED 
APT

BLOCK A
BLOCK B

BLOCK C

P
age 98



9

ARROW STREET SALIX HOMES

SITE VIEWS

P
age 99



10

ARROW STREET SALIX HOMES

VIEW ALONG ARROW ST FROM BROUGHTON LANE

EXISTING 3 STOREY APARTMENT BLOCK  ON ARROW STREET

LINE OF PREVIOUS SCHEME

P
age 100



11

ARROW STREET SALIX HOMES

VIEW ALONG ARROW STREET 

LINE OF PREVIOUS SCHEME

P
age 101



12

ARROW STREET SALIX HOMES

MASSING PRECEDENT

P
age 102



13

ARROW STREET SALIX HOMES

MASSING PRECEDENT STUDY

CHAPTER HOUSE, LICHFIELD

ARCHITECT: Procter + Matthews
Extra Care Facility 

P
age 103



P
age 104



 

                                                          

ADULT COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE

AGENDA ITEM NO: 8

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

6 November 2019 

Report of: Karen Proctor

Date of Paper: 01/10/2019

Subject: Salford CVS’ Third Sector Fund

In case of query 
Please contact:

Stephen Woods
Stephen.woods4@nhs.net
0161 212 4250

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
X Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)
X Children’s and Maternity Services
X Primary Care
x Enabling Transformation

Purpose of Paper:            
                       

1. To update on the delivery progress of the Third Sector Fund 2017-2020 

2. To provide detail in relation to the recent evaluation of the fund to date by external 
evaluation partners CLES (Centre for Local Economic Strategies) 

3. To inform the group of the CCG’s decision to approve a further five-year investment 
into the Salford CVS managed Third Sector Fund of £1million per annum for the 
period April 2020 – March 2025 (subject to conditions)

Page 105

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Stephen.woods4@nhs.net


 

                                                          

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

The Third Sector Fund has been benefiting the 
health and wellbeing of Salford residents since 
its inception in 2014.
In the period 2018/19 the Fund supported 203 
local voluntary organisations, charities, 
community groups, social enterprises and 
primary schools, benefiting the health and wider 
wellbeing of 26,048 Salford residents.
The fund demonstrated a financial return on 
investment for NHS Salford CCG of £1:£17.74 
in 2018/19 and also attracted £575,000 in 
additional cash match funding.
Comparable (or better) results and benefits are 
projected for the period 2020-2025.

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

Without agreement to fund - loss of the 
infrastructure and funding that currently 
sustains the vibrant VCSE sector in Salford – 
fundamental to social prescribing 

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

Potential risk to a wide range of VCSE provision 
to all protected characteristic groups

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH OR EXTREME 
RISKS FACING THE 
ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT ARE 
THEY AND HOW DOES THIS PAPER 
REDUCE THEM?

Supports the VCSE infrastructure required to 
successfully deliver social prescribing

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

None

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

If no future funding agreed - significant risk to 
the VCES infrastructure locally – direct impact 
on localised VCSE service provision and risk to 
staff currently employed by the CVS

Page 106



  

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

Yes
Ongoing engagement via Salford CVS; 
CLES independent evaluation 

Positive support for the Third 
Sector Fund

Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

Yes Clinical Commissioning Committee also 
discussion with Tom Tasker 

Positive support for the Third 
Sector Fund

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?

Yes Yes, Salford CVS have ensured each 
grant recipient reports on their social value

Comprehensive evidence of 
social value recorded

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 

Yes Yes, Salford CVS have completed a full 
Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) on 
their grants programme

Recommendations acted 
upon 

Legal Advice Sought N/A N/A N/A

Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

Yes Service and Finance Group
Clinical Commissioning Committee – 
Aspects to CYPCG – CVS annual 
workshops
CCG Execs

Fully Supported

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 107



Salford CVS managed ‘Third Sector Fund’

1. Executive Summary

This paper provides a brief update on the CCG’s Third Sector Fund.

The fund is managed by Salford CVS

The Third Sector Fund is a flexible, responsive grants programme that has the ability to 
ensure that grantees are delivering against the priorities of the refreshed Locality Plan, 
alongside any other strategic priorities identified. 

The Third Sector Fund was established in 2014 by Salford CVS in partnership with NHS 
Salford CCG to harness Salford CVS’ relationship with the voluntary, community and social 
enterprise sector in Salford in order to reach into local communities with the aim of using 
small grants as an enabler to help improve the wellbeing, health and care of Salford 
residents. A three year rolling programme of evaluation was commissioned and delivered 
by Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES)

Following negotiations between NHS Salford CCG with Salford CVS during the latter half of 
2016, based on the positive results of the previously funded programmes of work, NHS 
Salford CCG positively responded to CLES’ core recommendation and agreed to further 
fund the Third Sector Fund for a three-year period, commencing April 2017. The CLES full 
year two report was submitted to the CCG’s Service and Finance Group (SFG) in October 
2019

Based on progress and results of this report the SFG agreed in principle to support the 
following recommendation:- 

That the CCG Approve A further five-year investment into the Salford CVS managed Third 
Sector Fund of £1million per annum for the period April 2020 – March 2025

This decision was subsequently approved by the CCG’s executive on the 9th October 2019

This will be subject to:-

 Further discussion in relation to ongoing contracting arrangements
 Annual review (yearly evaluation of the programmes impact)
 Annual review of CCG funding priorities and the submission, agreement and sign 

off of an annual funding plan

In addition to this the CCG Executive agreed an additional £500k for 2020/21 the focus of 
this will be Mental Health the indicative split being 60/40 split Live well and Start Well 
respectively.

Page 108



2. Strategic Context of the Third Sector Fund

2.1  The main aim of the Third Sector Fund is to enable Salford CVS to use their position 
in the city to reach voluntary organisations, community groups and social enterprises 
in all parts of the city (by neighbourhood and also in terms of communities of identity) 
that, with a small investment, can help address some of the key health priorities in 
Salford, as articulated in the Salford Locality Plan: 

START WELL: Ensure all children have the best start in life and continue to develop 
well during their early years 

LIVE WELL: Local residents achieve and maintain a sense of wellbeing by leading a 
healthy lifestyle supported by resilient communities 

AGE WELL: All local residents can access quality health and social care and use it 
appropriately 

3. Investments made via the Third Sector Fund in 2018 - 2019

3.1 In the period 2018-2019 the Third Sector Fund invested in 203 voluntary 
organisations, charities, community groups, social enterprises and primary schools. 

3.2 Grants awarded ranged from £250 to £50,000, across a range of regular tailored 
funds: Wellbeing Fund, Impact Fund, Impact Fund Partnership Challenge, Volunteers’ 
Expenses Fund, Volunteers’ Week Activity Fund, Healthy Schools Fund, Healthy 
Schools Fund Community Partnership Challenge.

3.3 Additional investments were made via Specific Grants Calls, designed to be 
responsive to emerging city priorities. These included: Grow Well Fund (with match 
funding provided by the RHS); Living Well with Dementia Community Fund; Youth 
Wellbeing Fund (with a panel including young people); Healthy Holidays Fund 
(delivered in partnership with Salford Foodshare Network and Salford City Council). 

3.4 All investments were made in line with the national ‘Principles of Good Grant Making: 
How to make grants that are fair, transparent and effective’ (DSC, Grants for Good). 

3.5 In the autumn of 2018 Salford CVS were awarded ‘Living Wage Funder’ status by the 
national Living Wage Foundation (part of Citizens UK). Salford CVS have now joined 
a host of major grant-giving organisations such as Comic Relief, the Joseph 
Rowntree Foundation and the People's Health Trust, in being recognised by the 
Living Wage Foundation as proactively supporting decently paid jobs. 

Since April 2018 Salford CVS have explicitly asked applicants for funding whether or 
not they pay the ‘real’ living wage. During the last year we've supported 28 
organisations with larger grants of between £10,000 and £50,000. Twenty-five of 
those organisations have confirmed that they pay the Living Wage Foundation ‘real’ 
living wage, or more. The remaining three did not employ staff. 

These larger grants have supported 10.3 full-time equivalent new jobs here in 
Salford. 
 

Page 109



This is part of the work Salford CVS is undertaking in support of the Salford Social 
Value Alliance’s 10% Better campaign, which has a target of having ‘at least 1,570 
more Salford residents paid the Living Wage Foundation ‘real’ Living Wage' by 2021’.

4. Evaluation and Impact of the Third Sector Fund, 2014 - 2019
 
4.1 In the period 2018/19 the Third Sector Fund supported 203 local voluntary 

organisations, charities, community groups, social enterprises and primary schools; 
benefiting the health and wider wellbeing of 26,048 Salford residents.

The fund demonstrated a financial return on investment for NHS Salford CCG 
of £1:£17.74 in 2018/19 and also attracted £575,000 in additional cash match 
funding.

Other notable benefits included a 25% reduction in social isolation amongst 
beneficiaries and a 13% increase in physical activity.

4.2 “Exceptionally strong return on investment” – so state our evaluation partners 
CLES (Centre for Local Economic Strategies) when reviewing the data that their 
evaluation work has revealed during the lifetime of the Third Sector Fund 2014-2019 
(2014-16; 2017-2019).

CLES have made the following remarks in their latest evaluation report:

“Across the four years the programme has run (2014-16 & 2017-19), our independent 
evaluation has evidenced the significant return on investment achieved through the 
CCG investment in the VCSE sector in Salford. This year we have taken the 
opportunity to look back over our previous evaluations to generate a return on 
investment figure for the life of the programme to date.” 

 
“Looking across the four years we have calculated that for every £1 invested by 
the CCG a social return of £14.94 has been delivered. To put this figure in 
context, comparable projects of the type funded through the grants programme 
are considered to be offering excellent value for money if they generate a social 
return on investment above £5 for every £1 invested*.”

*Review of the literature on SROI from comparable programmes (including 
community befriending services, social prescribing projects and family support 
workers) has identified studies highlighting SROIs of between £3 - £6.50 for every £1 
invested.

 
5. Recommendations

5.1 The Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to acknowledge this report and provide 
any feedback.

Name: Stephen Woods
Job Title: Head of Service Improvement (Partnerships)

NOTE - The Year 2 CLES Evaluation report and the 2018/19 Annual Report are 
available on request.

Page 110



 

1

ADULTS COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE
AGENDA ITEM NO 9

Item for Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

DATE OF MEETING:  6th November 2019

Report of: Harry Golby
Assistant Director of Commissioning

Date of Paper: 1st November 2019 

Subject: Cancer Work Plan Update  

In case of query 
Please contact:

Amit Gaokar
Senior Service Improvement Manager 
a.gaokar@nhs.net  

Purpose of Paper:

The purpose of the paper is to provide an update to the committee of the local work 
undertaken to improve cancer services and early diagnosis of cancer.

Salford’s Cancer work programme is based on Greater Manchester’s Achieving World 
Class Cancer Outcomes Plan and is overseen by the Cancer & Scheduled Care Delivery 
Board.

The committee is asked to note the contents within the report. 

Further explanatory information required

Page 111

Agenda Item 9

mailto:a.gaokar@nhs.net


 

2

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

Improve prevention and early diagnosis of 
cancer for people living in Salford. Improve 
services for people in Salford living with cancer. 

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

No identified risks as a result of this update 
paper – Risks are mitigated at an individual 
project level.

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

No identified risks as a result of this update 
paper – Equality related risks are mitigated at 
an individual project level.

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH OR EXTREME 
RISKS FACING THE 
ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT ARE 
THEY AND HOW DOES THIS PAPER 
REDUCE THEM?

Yes – the cancer waiting time performance 
standards referred to in the paper, form part of 
the NHS constitution standards.  Failure to 
achieve these standards is currently rated as a 
high impact/very likely to occur risk.  The paper 
describes how these targets are performance 
managed.

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

N/A

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

N/A

Footnote:

Members of – Adults’ Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once 
papers are distributed no amendments are possible.

Page 112



  

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual 

report)
Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

X Public engagement is embedded 
into the programme as a whole

Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

X Via programme as a whole and at 
the individual project level 

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?

X Via programme as a whole and at 
the individual project level

Legal Advice Sought X

Presented to the Cancer & Scheduled Care 
Delivery Board 

X Highlight report (Appendix B) has 
been discussed by the board on 
25 October 2019 

Report was noted 

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 113



CCG Cancer Work Plan Update

1. Executive Summary

The purpose of the paper is to provide an update to the committee of the local work undertaken 
to improve cancer services and early diagnosis of cancer.

Salford’s Cancer work programme is based on Greater Manchester’s Achieving World Class 
Cancer Outcomes Plan and is overseen by the Cancer & Scheduled Care Delivery Board. The 
key domains of the GM plan are:

• Prevention
• Early Diagnosis  
• Improved and Standardised Care and Education 
• Commissioning
• Patient Experience
• Living With and Beyond Cancer  

The committee is asked to note the contents within the report. 

2. Overview 

2.1 The Adults Commissioning Committee now undertakes the responsibility for 
overseeing the delivery of Salford’s Cancer Plan. The first update report was 
submitted to the committee in June 2019. This report follows the initial report to 
provide progress on the cancer work undertaken by Salford CCG since the last 
report. Cancer & Scheduled Care Delivery Board also has a regular oversight of the 
work plan through the monthly performance and quarterly highlight reports (Appendix 
A).

2.2 Cancer, heart disease and lung disease continue to remain the leading causes of 
death in Salford. With almost around 1300 new cancer cases each year, Salford 
clearly experiences significantly higher rates than the rest of the country for cancer 
related deaths. People in Salford experienced higher levels of illness and lower life 
expectancy; particularly for those with diagnosed with cancer.

2.3 Referral by a GP or via National Screening Programmes, are the 2 most common 
routes into cancer services in Salford. 

2.4 A majority of Salford patients are diagnosed and treated at Salford Royal Foundation 
Trust, but significant proportions also receive treatment and care with other providers 
for specific cancers, such as Manchester Foundation Trust (i.e. Manchester Royal 
Infirmary & Wythenshawe Hospital), The Christie Hospital, Pennine Acute Hospital 
Trust and Bolton Foundation.  

Page 114



2.5 The rate of one year survival after cancer diagnosis is rising across Greater 
Manchester, with an ambition to reach 75% by 2020. Salford has seen significant 
improvement in recent years, with 70.6% survival rate in 2016 as opposed to 66.4% 
in 2013.   Additional focus on detecting cancers at an earlier stage, will lead to further 
improvement. Patients in Salford rated having good experience of cancer services 
which is reflected from 9.3/10 rating in the patient experience survey for 2018. 

2.6 Salford faces challenges withe high rates of smoking, high rates of emergency 
presentations and late diagnosis of cancers.  There are also significant inequalities in 
cancer outcomes, resulting from wider socio-economic factors including deprivation.

3. Salford’s Cancer Plan 

3.1 An internal workshop was organised in October to review and understand if the 
existing actions agreed within the current 2019-20 Business Plan are adequate for 
delivery and achievement of the required performance targets. The workshop 
resulted in positive outcomes with the group agreeing to introduce better assurance 
measures for improving service delivery and performance. One key agreed measure 
was the inclusion of a new KPI (Key Performance Indicator) in Salford Standard to 
audit patients’ pathways at GP practices that may include patients that have died as 
result of cancer. The audit will enable GPs to have a greater insight into their 
patients’ pathways, help in identifying the factors resulting in late presentations, and 
could significantly help the CCG in working with GP practices to improve early 
diagnosis. 

3.2 Salford CCG’s Cancer Plan (Appendix B) focuses on the entire pathway for Salford 
patients accessing cancer services. Key themes of the plan include:

3.3 Improving Early Diagnosis  

 From 9 September 2019, the CCG in working with Salford Royal Foundation Trust 
has successfully commenced the Lung Health Checks pilot for patients in Salford.  
As a part of the lung health check, eligible members of the local population 
(people aged 55 to 74 who are smokers or ex-smokers) will be tested to diagnose 
COPD and lung cancer at an early stage.  The work aims to improve lung cancer 
survival rates and provide advice and support to those identified as smokers and 
wish to quit smoking. The free health checks started in Walkden, in a community 
setting with plans in place to move to other neighbourhoods over time.

 The CCG is currently supporting the implementation of evidence based best timed 
pathway projects for effectively improving the diagnosis of 3 types of cancers - 
prostate, lung and colorectal. These chosen types are common cancers where 
diagnostic problems and variation are most marked across the country. These 

Page 115



projects hope to reduce hospital visits for tests, and cancer to be diagnosed 10 
days earlier.

3.4 Improving Prevention:

 In 2018 there were 39,000 smokers in Salford (20% of adults). The smoking 
population in Salford has steadily fallen since 2014 but remains higher than the 
national figures. Currently, Salford is in the process of developing a new tobacco 
control plan working with the Salford Tobacco Harm Reduction Group to 
collectively implement actions for reducing tobacco-related harms in the city.  Both 
the CCG and Salford City Council’s public health team are committed to reducing 
these numbers further and are working with SRFT with the CURE (Conversation, 
Understand, Replace, Expert & Evidence Based Treatments) project. The term 
‘CURE’ has been specifically chosen to ‘medicalise’ tobacco addiction and move 
away from the stigma of a lifestyle choice to disease treatment. The CURE project 
will contribute to the GM and locality ambition to reduce smoking prevalence by 
supporting smokers who are admitted to hospital to quit.  The allocated funding 
from GM Cancer to support the implementation of CURE is for a period of 12 
months.The funding is non-recurrent and any future funding will be based upon 
successful evaluation of the project delivered in 2020/21 to inform long term 
arrangements. 

 Salford City Council’s public health team is supporting the ‘Answer Cancer’ 
programme (funded by Greater Manchester Health & Social Care Partnership), 
which aims to increase the uptake of cervical, breast and bowel screening across 
the city by raising awareness of the screening programmes. Answer Cancer will 
be specifically working with marginalised and targeted populations where the 
uptake is lowest.

3.5 Upskilling of Salford Clinicians 

 Salford CCG is currently focusing on improving the performance of cancers 
diagnosed at an early stage and has been working with Salford GPs to improve 
their knowledge and understanding of early signs and symptoms of cancer. To 
improve training uptake and better access for GPs, Salford CCG is developing 
plans to introduce ‘Group Style’ training sessions for GPs.

 CCG held an educational workshop for GPs in May 2019 and aim to undertake 
further upskilling sessions to support practitioners in detecting cancers at an 
earlier stage.  CCG is also jointly working with Cancer Research UK to improve 
awareness of cancer symptoms through completion of Gateway ‘C’ trainings. 
Additional work includes trainings delivered for Practice Cancer Champions, to 
build awareness of cancer symptoms for non-clinical GP practice staff resulting in 
improved patient experience and early detection.

Page 116



3.6 Commissioning (Performance Improvement and Monitoring)

 Appendix A demonstrates current year performance for the 9 key national cancer 
standards.  These are all measures of waiting times once the patient is in the 
cancer pathway. The clinical significance of these standards varies.  Reduced 
waiting times contribute to improving outcomes for patients.  However, patients 
presenting with late-stage cancer, a reduction in waiting time will have little impact 
on outcome compared to the benefit of earlier presentation when the signs and 
symptoms of cancer are first noticeable. The conversion rate from referral to 
cancer diagnosis is relatively low, so for many people reduced waiting times can 
help reduce the period of anxiety before they receive a negative diagnosis.    

 The last update in August for 2019/20 performance shows that Salford has 
achieved 4 of the 9 National standards. The performance 2-week wait standard for 
urgent referrals and breast symptoms has significantly reduced in the recent 
months. Breast symptomatic 2 week wait performance was 27.7% in August 
against the 93% target. This has been largely due to capacity issues due 
increased demand for providers as a result of service closures.
 

 The CCG works closely with providers across Greater Manchester and colleagues 
at Salford Royal to improve performance around these targets. Assurance has 
been sought from providers on their plans put in place to improve capacity and 
manage the issue of increased demand, particularly for breast and skin services. 
Salford CCG is working to analyse breaches on the 62 Day pathway and will work 
with providers to improve access to services for Salford patients.

3.7 Living With and Beyond Cancer  

 The CCG is works in partnership with Macmillan Cancer Support and Salford 
Royal to provide care for patients recovering from cancer.  The work focuses on 
reducing variation of care in GP practices by providing advice and guidance and 
upskilling frontline staff at practices.   This also enables joint working between 
primary care and secondary care to ensure patients get consistent support when 
recovering from cancer. 

4. Recommendations

4.1  The committee is asked to note the contents of the report.

Amit Gaokar
Senior Service Improvement Manager 
November 2019 

Page 117



APPENDIX A

Cancer Waiting Times| Monthly and Quarterly Monitoring – 2019/20

Cod
e Measure  Target Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 2019-20

Frequency Monthly

Report Status Provisional

Seen within 14 days 813 828 716 772 605 3734

Total number of referrals seen during the period 859 903 795 939 827 4323E.B.6
Cancer Patients - 2 
Week Waits (Urgent 
GP Referral)

% seen within 14 days

93%

94.6% 91.7% 90.1% 82.2% 73.2% 86.4%

Seen within 14 days 53 81 53 47 31 265

Total number of referrals seen during the period 103 117 115 110 111 556E.B.7
Cancer Patients - 2 
Week Waits (Breast 
Symptoms)

% seen within 14 days

93%

51.5% 69.2% 46.1% 42.7% 27.9% 47.7%

Treated within 31 days 107 110 96 120 112 545

Total number of first treatments during the period 113 115 96 125 114 563E.B.8 Cancer Waits - 31 
Days (All Cancers)

% treated within 31 days

96%

94.7% 95.7% 100.0% 96.0% 98.2% 96.8%

Treated within 31 days (second or subsequent treatment) 22 22 19 23 25 111
Total number of second or subsequent treatments during the 
period 22 22 19 23 25 111E.B.9 Cancer Waits - 31 

Days (Surgery)
% treated within 31 days (second or subsequent treatment)

94%

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

E.B.1
0

Cancer Waits - 31 
Days (Drugs) Treated within 31 days (second or subsequent treatment) 98% 14 15 15 25 26 95

P
age 118



Total number of second or subsequent treatments during the 
period 14 15 15 25 26 95

% treated within 31 days (second or subsequent treatment) 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Treated within 31 days (second or subsequent treatment) 43 35 36 37 40 191

Total number of second or subsequent treatments during the 
period 43 35 37 38 40 193E.B.1

1

Cancer Waits - 31 
Days 
(Radiotherapy)

% treated within 31 days (second or subsequent treatment)

94%

100.0% 100.0% 97.3% 97.4% 100.0% 99.0%

Treated within 62 days 48 43 39 49 40 219

Total number of first treatments during the period 59 55 46 61 50 271E.B.1
2

Cancer Waits - 62 
Days (Urgent GP 
Referral)

% treated within 62 days

85%

81.4% 78.2% 84.8% 80.3% 80.0% 80.8%

Treated within 62 days 6 5 7 7 6 31

Total number of first treatments during the period 8 5 7 8 7 35E.B.1
3

Cancer Waits - 62 
Days (Screening 
Service)

% treated within 62 days (Screening Service)

90%

75.0% 100.0% 100.0% 87.5% 85.7% 88.6%

Treated within 62 days 24 20 17 30 27 118

Total number of first treatments during the period 28 26 24 35 32 145E.B.1
4

Cancer Waits - 62 
Days (Decision to 
Upgrade)

% treated within 62 days (Decision to upgrade)

85%

85.7% 76.9% 70.8% 85.7% 84.4% 81.4%

P
age 119



APPENDIX B

Salford CCG Cancer Programme
Highlight Report

Report Author Amit Gaokar 

Work Area Executive Sponsors Harry Golby 

Reporting Period November 2019 

Clinical Lead Dr Steven Elliot 

Priority Area Owner Due Comments

Prevention

1 Revised Cancer 
Work Plan 

Public 
Health/CCG

October 
2019

Prevention section within the cancer plan has been updated to align with current 
preventative actions planned and undertaken by the Public Health team.

2
GP practice 
based cancer 
champions

CCG/CRUK March 2020 Training for non-clinical staff by Cancer Research UK will continue throughout 2019. 

3
Joint 
Communication 
Campaigns 

Public 
Health/CCG 2019/20

Joint communications between the CCG and Public Health communications teams. 
Messaging on quitting smoking, skin cancer prevention, obesity, lung health check 
and uptake of HPV vaccination. The communications plan will continue throughout the 
year alongside National and GM campaigns.  

Early Diagnosis  

4 Lung Health 
Check 

CCG/SRFT/
Public Health

November 
2019

Salford CCG and Salford City Council launched a lung health check pilot on 9th 
September 2019, to improve early-stage detection of lung disease (including lung 
cancer). The free health checks started in Walkden, in a community setting and are 

P
age 120



available to people aged 55 to 74 who are smokers or ex-smokers. In the following 18 
months, CCG plans to expand the pilot to other localities in Salford.

5 Rapid Diagnostic 
Centres 

CCG/Northern 
Care Alliance

January 
2020

Salford CCG is working closely with Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust (SRFT) and 
Northern Care Alliance to introduce cancer rapid diagnostic centres (RDCs), building 
on the successful pilot of a mini-RDC’s in Oldham. The RDC will play a critical role in 
helping Salford meet the increasing diagnostic demand, reduce diagnostic delays and 
deliver an enhanced patient experience for patients referred with symptoms that could 
indicate cancer. 

6 Screening 
Improvement 

CCG/Public 
Health

March 
2021

Following the review of National evidence on the outcomes in relation to Screening 
Volunteers, CCG and Public Health are assessing the possibility of designing a 
project that can be led by the Health Improvement Service at Salford Council. 
Currently, Salford Council Public Health and CCG are supporting ‘Answer Cancer’ 
who are funded by GM Health & Social Care Partnerships to improve screening 
uptake in Salford. Answer Cancer aims to engage with targeted populations to raise 
awareness of cancer screening programmes and work with GM appointed screening 
workers to improve uptake.  

7
Suspected 
Cancer Referral 
Communications 

CCG March 
2020

Suspected Cancer Referral Letter has been on the GP system since December 2018 
and its use as a part of the referral process has been regularly reminded via the GP 
newsletter. Adherence to this best practice is included in the Salford Standard and is 
monitored by the CCG. CCG is also working on producing the Suspected Cancer 
Referral best practice document for GP practices.

8 Salford Standard CCG October 
2019

CCG regularly monitor’s the completion of the GP National Cancer Diagnosis Audit 
(NCDA) included in the Salford Standard. All GP practices have been reminded for 
timely submission of their audits, to be included in the NCDA interim and final reports. 
The audit enables GPs to have a greater insight into their patient’s pathway in 
receiving a cancer diagnosis. 

P
age 121



Improved and Standardised Care and Education 

9 GP Upskilling CCG March 
2020

CCG continues to regularly communicate with practices via the GP newsletter to 
promote the Gateway ‘C’ Training modules with the aim to improve early diagnosis 
and adherence to best practices for suspected cancer referrals.  Completion of 
specific training modules has been added to the Salford Standard. CCG is also 
currently exploring the possibility of group style approach for completion of training 
modules to achieve improved GP engagement. 

10 GM Cancer 
Commissioners GM/CCG March 

2020

Salford CCG works with Greater Manchester (GM) Cancer Commissioners via the 
cancer commissioning manager’s meetings to support the development and update of 
the GM Cancer Plan. CCG supports the development and implementation of GM 
Cancer supported projects -Best Timed Pathway (Prostate, Colorectal, and Lung) and 
CURE projects. CCG currently working with SRFT and Salford Public Health team to 
complete and finalise the CURE project service specification. Salford CCG also 
provides commissioning input at the Skin Pathway Board. 

11 Paediatric Cancer 
Referrals CCG December

2019

The CCG is involved in a Task and Finish Group with the Paediatric Cancer Pathway 
Board to develop a GM wide referral process for children with suspected cancer. The 
new GM process will involve local support for initial assessment before being referred 
for suspected cancer. The CCG has had discussion internally and with SRFT, and 
despite initial uncertainty regarding how to implement this pathway locally, it has been 
proposed that the reasonable way forward is SRFT providing a single contact 
telephone number for the Consultant Community Paediatrician that the GP could ring 
to discuss their suspected cancer case.   

Commissioning

12
Reduction of 
Diagnostic 
Waiting Times 

SRFT/CCG March 
2020

CCG is actively working with providers to improve performance for the National 
Cancer targets - 2 Week Wait (Urgent Referrals and Breast Symptoms) and 62-day 
treatment. 

P
age 122



and Breaches

13
Quality 
Surveillance 
Monitoring 

NHS 
England/SRFT/ 

CCG

October 
2019

Following the completion of self-assessment by SRFT as a part of the NHS England’s 
Quality Surveillance programme, CCG is currently reviewing the assessment and will 
be providing their feedback by the end of October. CCGs will also be seeking a 
response to their annual assessment from SRFT and all planned actions will be 
monitored via the Cancer Governance Board. 

Patient Experience

14 Experience of 
cancer patients CCG October 

2019
Salford CCG scored the highest in GM and is one of the only 15 CCGs to score over 9 
(9.3) Nationally in the National Cancer Patient Experience Survey - 2018

Living With and Beyond Cancer  

15 Recovery 
Package 

MacMillan/
CCG

March 
2020

CCG, Macmillan and SRFT continue to work in partnership to support patients 
recovering from cancer with the aim to reduce variation in primary care and improve 
uptake of Electronic Holistic Needs Assessments (eHNA) in secondary care. 

16
Macmillan 
Practice 
Educators

Macmillan/
CCG

March 
2020

The CCG continues to support the Macmillan Practice Educators in their work with 
Salford GP practices to introduce new education and training programmes to enhance 
patient-centred care for cancer patients.  

17 Cancer Care 
Review CCG March 

2020

The CCG continues to work with GP practices in undertaking the Cancer Care 
Review’s (CCR). The expectation is that the CCR is undertaken by the GP within 6 
months from diagnosis. The CCG is working towards producing a best practice 
document to improve the uptake and quality of the reviews.

18 Health and 
Wellbeing Events CCG March 

2020
The CCG commissioned Health & Wellbeing Co-ordinator has now been recruited to 
the post. 

19 Support people 
with long-term 

CCG/GM 
Cancer

April 
2020

Provide access to psychological support. Working with GM Cancer team to develop 
support in Salford. Exploring the possibility of Salford to be pilot site for GM work.

P
age 123

https://www.ncpes.co.uk/reports/2018-reports/local-reports-2018/trusts-2018/4522-salford-royal-2018-ncpes-report-rm3/file


consequences of 
treatment.

P
age 124


	Agenda
	3 Draft Minutes of the Meeting Held on 9 October 2019
	5 Finance Report - Steve Dixon - 10 minutes
	6 Adult Commissioning (Revised) Report - Karen Proctor/Charlotte Ramsden - 10 minutes
	7 Arrow Street Extra Care Proposal - 15 minutes
	07 - Appendix 1
	07 - Appendix 2
	07 - Appendix 3

	8 CCG Third Sector Fund - Karen Proctor - 5 minutes
	9 Cancer Work Plan Upate - Harry Golby - 10 minutes

